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"T ... Cheung Bing-Leung, was appointed as the
Secretary for Transport and Housing ... on 1 July 2012.
Among other responsibilities, the [Secretary for
Transport and Housing] assumes the office of Chairman

of the Housing Authority

I make this statement pursuant to a direction
addressed to the Chairman of the [Housing Authority]
from the Commission of Inquiry into Excess Lead Found
in Drinking Water ... via a letter of Lo & Lo Solicitors
dated 12 October 2015, supplemented by a further
direction set out in another 1letter of Lo & Lo
Solicitors dated 13 October 2015 (collectively [these

will be referred to as the] 'Lo & Lo's letters')."

ERE  E MR EE —F e IR(RORA — (8 | SRR A 2 m[ig ] LA
—E P SGEA > AR B B H R AR - — (8 copy (EEIEE - F(E
A e Ve Y B HH R e ) - Ui 2

Beoo e - PRBR ST W B -
LT AR o BE A R B I E R o

Bedt4: ¢ "As an introductory point, I wish to emphasise as
the Chairman of the [Housing Authority] and the
[Secretary for Transport and Housing] that the
[Housing Authority] and its executive arm -- the
Housing Department ... stand ready to co-operate fully
with the [Commission of ITnquiry]. 1In due course, [the
Housing Authority] will review carefully such
recommendations as may be made by the [Commission]
concerning the quality of drinking water in Hong Kong
and will seek to implement such recommendations which
may relate specifically to the [Housing Authority]."

"Concerning the ten Requests raised in the Lo
& Lo's letters, I have discussed them carefully with
relevant senior staff in the [Housing Department]. We
understand that to facilitate the [Commission of
Inquiry], we should locate the persons best able to

give evidence specific to the questions raised. While

- 10 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BRKENEERELZE S 2015411 H 2 H

I am able to respond to the Requests to some extent,
given the subject matters of the Requests and the
historical and technical details involved, we believe
the best person to respond to the Requests with such
details is the Head of the Development and Construction
Division of the [Housing Department] ... As explained
at the Preliminary Hearing, Ms Ada Fung, the Deputy
Director who heads the [Development and Construction
Division of the Housing Department], will provide a
statement covering various construction and technical
matters in much greater detail. In coping with the
many tasks following the first incident of excess lead
found in drinking water in public rental housing
estates, I have worked closely with the Director of
Housing and his senior staff, as well as all divisions
of the [Housing Department] as a team, contributing
to the efforts within and beyond the normal lines of
duty. The Director of Housing and his staff stand
ready to give evidence as the [Commission of Inquiry]
deems fit."

"I think it might be useful to the [Commission
of Inquiry] 1if I provide some Dbackground of the

organisation and people involved before I respond to

the Requests. The [Housing Authority] 1is the
statutory body established in April 1973 under the
Housing Ordinance ... The [Secretary for Transport

and Housing] assumes the office of Chairman of the
Housing Authority, while the Director of Housing
assumes that of Vice-chairman. In addition to the
Chairman and Vice-chairman, the Housing Authority
currently has two official members ([that is the]
Permanent Secretary for Financial Services and the
Treasury (Treasury) and Director of Lands) and 27
non-official members. Six standing committees have
been formed under section 7 of the Housing Ordinance
to formulate, administer and oversee policies in

specific areas. They are:

(a) Building Committee.

- 11 -
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(b) Commercial Properties Committee.

(c) Finance Committee.

(d) Strategic Planning Committee.

(e) Subsidised Housing Committee.

(f) Tender Committee.

Subcommittees and ad hoc committees may be

formed on a need basis."

"The [Housing Department] is the executive arm
of the [Housing Authority], staffed mostly by civil
servants. It is headed by the Director of Housing,
Mr Stanley Ying, who also assumes the office of the
Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(Housing) . Under the office of the Director of Housing,
there are four divisions, namely [the Development and
Construction Division], Estate Management Division,

Strategy Division and Corporate Services Division."

"The [Development and Construction Division] is
responsible for the production of new public housing
units, which include all aspects of project management
and production work covering the initial site search
and feasibility studies, community engagement,
planning, design, construction management,
commissioning for occupation, up to the expiry of
maintenance period and the settlement of final
accounts. The [Development and ConstructionDivision]
is also responsible for establishing operational
policies on procurement, design construction, quality
performance assessment dispute resolution, research
and development, safety and environmental management

for public housing development in Hong Kong."

"The [Development and Construction Division] is

- 12 -
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headed by a Deputy Director who is supported by four
Assistant Directors and 25 Chief Professionals,
including Chief Architects, Chief Building Services
Engineers, Chief Civil Engineers, Chief Geotechnical
Engineers, Chief Planning Officers, Chief Quantity
Surveyors, and Chief Structural Engineers. The
establishment of [the Development and Construction
Division] including non-directorate staff is 2,497."

"From the above, we think Ms Fung is the best
person to provide the historical and technical details
required by the Requests."

"A final part of the background which I think
may be relevant is how I have participated in the
efforts to manage the incident of excess lead found
in drinking water in certain" -- what is PRH? Public
rental housing estates; hereafter, we will call them
the "Incidents" —— "as it is through this process that
I have learned much of the information that I will be

using to respond to the Requests."

"T first became aware of the problems when the
Director of Housing reported to me that on 7 July 2015
lead had been found in two joint samples taken from
two vacant units in Kai Ching Estate. I decided that
we had to enter into a 'contingency mode', and that
the matter required close collaboration between the
[Housing Authority] and the government, as well as
high-level concerted efforts of various bureaux and
departments within the Government, in particular the

Development Bureau, the Food and Health Bureau, the

Water Supplies Department ... and the Department of
Health ... I notified the Chief Secretary for
Administration ... about the incident concerning Kai

Ching Estate and kept her updated of the development
afterwards. On 11 July, the [Chief Secretary]
convened the first of a series of interdepartmental
meetings in response to the Incident. I attended this
and almost all of the subsequent interdepartmental

- 13 -
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meetings chaired by the [Chief Secretary] or the acting
[Chief Secretary]. Besides, I participated in the
first joint-departmental press conference held on 11
July, and explained that the government attached great
importance to the matter and would take immediate
follow-up actions to ease residents' concerns and
ensure their access to safe drinking water. I have
also participated in a number of joint-departmental
press conferences that followed. Since the discovery
of the problem in Kai Ching Estate, the government has
been adhering to three principles in handling the

issue:

—-— being open and transparent in information

dissemination;

—-— adopting a people-oriented approach; and

—-— carrying out thorough investigations."

"Since the Incident, I have been conscious of
the need to keep members of the [Housing Authority]
informed of the development. Hence, I, together with
the Director of Housing and his senior staff members,
gave a briefing to the members of the [Housing
Authority] on 16 July 2015. During the same briefing,
I proposed that the [Housing Authority] should set up
a Review Committee to carry out a full 'body check'
on the [Housing Authority's] quality control and
monitoring mechanism at different stages of public
housing construction. On 24 July 2015, having
obtained the [Housing Authority's] agreement, we
announced the establishment of the Review Committee
on Quality Assurance Issues Relating to Fresh Water
Supply of Public Housing Estates ([hereafter called]
the 'Review Committee', led by a member of the
Housing Authority, Mr Cheung Tat Tong, who will give
his witness statement to the [Commission of Inquiry]
separately. The Housing Authority was further

updated on the development of the Incident via a

- 14 -
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[Housing Authority] paper issued on 12 August 2015,
and on the results of a systemic water sampling tests
for [public rental housing] estates completed in and
after 2005 wvia another [Housing Authority] paper
issued on 29 September 2015."

"The [Housing Authority] has attached and
continues to attach great importance to the necessary
investigations and follow-up actions. The details of
these actions are covered in the paragraphs below."

"The Review Committee submitted 1its interim
report to me on 6 October 2015. The interim report
was uploaded onto [the Housing Authority's] website
on the same day. As the [Housing Authority] chairman,
I said openly on 6 October that I agreed with the Review
Committee's wview that there had been a lack of
awareness in the construction industry, as well as the
[Housing Department], of the risk of presence of lead
in solder and its implications on the qguality of
drinking water and therefore the associated health
risks. I also said that I agreed with the Review
Committee's view that the [Housing Authority's] past
mechanism for ensuring the quality of drinking water
supplied to [public rental housing] estates had some
inadequacies. In short, while the [Housing
Authority's] past qguality control mechanism was
consistent with the industry's practice, the law and
other [Water Services Department's] requirements, it
did not focus on the presence of lead (or other heavy
metals) in the fresh water supply system, or in the
water, and did not target soldering materials as a high
risk item. With hindsight, had we been aware of the
associated risk before, [the Housing Authority] would
have put in place suitable control and monitoring
measures to prevent the use of non-compliant soldering
materials in the fresh water supply system."

"The Review Committee, as part of its study, has

in its interim report made some recommendations on
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measures to reduce the risk of occurrence of the
presence of lead in solder on joints and of excess lead
in drinking water in respect of new [public rental
housing] projects under construction. These measures
include requiring the main contractor to test water
samples in a newly completed inside service for heavy
metal content (including lead) in accordance with [the
water service department's] latest requirements,
requiring the main contractor to submit and comply with
a management plan covering stringent plumbing
subcontractor supervision and on-site monitoring, and
using quick test methods by Dboth the [Housing
Department] and the contractors to check for the
presence of lead 1in soldering joints during
construction stage. Throughout its study, the Review
Committee has been communicating with relevant and
interested stakeholders, including professional
organisations as well as industry representatives and
frontline workers, to understand their views on the
problem and possible solutions. It is possible that
it may revise the above measures and consider
recommending additional ones. The Review Committee

aims to submit a full report to me by the end of 2015."

"In fact, our qguest for improvement in the
[Housing Authority's] established quality control
mechanism for public housing construction has started
as soon as ... the problems in Kai Ching Estate was
first discovered. During a media session on July 10,
the Director of Housing said, for public housing
projects under construction, the [Housing Department]
was considering requiring main contractors to include
testing for lead in the water quality tests. The
[Housing Department] was also considering conducting
tests for the soldering materials to ensure that they
would comply with the lead-free requirement. On 13
July 2015, the Circular Letter No. 1/2015 issued by
the [Water Services Department], now produced and
shown to me marked 'Exhibit 1', which, among other
things, promulgates additional test parameters for
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water samples taken from a newly completed inside
service, covering four heavy metals of lead, chromium,
cadmium and nickel on top of the eight test parameters
under the Circular Letter No. 2/2012 issued by the
[Water Services Department], now produced and shown
to me marked 'Exhibit 2'. Accordingly, we imposed such
additional requirements on [public rental housing]
projects under construction. In our paper submitted
to the Legislative Council Panel on Housing for the
meeting on 22 July 2015, now produced and shown to me
as 'Exhibit 3', we explained our understanding on why
the [Housing Authority's] system had not inspected the
joints between pipes for lead content or checked for
the presence of lead in soldering materials. The
paper also outlined the short and medium term
improvement measures that the [Housing Authority]
would implement, and some longer term measures that
the [Housing Authority] would explore, in addressing
the problems identified."

Chairman, before I move on to the next paragraph,
I just want to point out that the text of the written
statement that was submitted, on the second line,
towards the end of the second line of paragraph 16,
there is a word "since" which is superfluous. Now,

I have omitted that when I read the evidence.
FJFE ALl right. Z4B4ENY -
Bde4 ¢ Paragraph 17, I continue:

"During the debate on two motions under the
Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges)
Ordinance ... held on 14 and 16 October 2015, I said
that since the Incident, the [Housing Authority] had
been mindful of not underestimating the risks nor
arousing undue fears in the community. We had been
adopting a pragmatic approach 1in addressing the
immediate needs and concerns of affected residents,

seeking remedies from the main contractors concerned
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according to contracts, and investigating into the
size and cause of the problem including a comprehensive
review of the [Housing Authority's] quality control
and monitoring mechanism for [public rental housing]
construction. I also said that the [Housing Authority]
would bear the necessary responsibility as the owner
of the [public rental housing] estates concerned, and
stood ready to co-operate with the [Commission of
Inquiry] fully. I undertook to implement the
recommendations to be made by the [Commission of
Inquiry] as well as those by the Review Committee and
the government's Task Force on Excessive Lead Content
in Drinking Water ... which is headed by the Deputy
Director of Water Supplies and comprising, among
others, the chairman of Advisory Committee on Water
Resources and Quality of Water Supplies, a renowned
expert in material and corrosion of metal as well as
a chemistry professor froma local university. I also
said that, if the [Commission of Inquiry] found that
there were responsibility issues that needed to be
followed up, we would act solemnly according to

established mechanism."

"In order to address residents' concern over an
increasing number of [public rental housing] estates
with water samples found to contain excess lead, I
announced on 15 July 2015 that water samples would be
taken from all [public rental housing] estates
completed since 2013, as well as Kwai Luen Estate Phase
1 (which was completed in 2011), for lead testing. On
20 July 2015, I announced that the scope of water
sampling tests would be further extended to all 12
[public rental housing] estates completed in 2011 and
2012. On 24 July 2015, I announced that the water
sampling tests would be extended to all [public rental
housing] estates in a systematic way. The target was
to complete such tests for [public rental housing]
developments completed in and after 2005 in two months'
time, and then taking into account experience and data,
consider how to do such tests for developments
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completed before 2005. On 24 September 2015, we
announced that systematic water sampling tests for
[public rental housing] developments completed in and
after 2005 (involving 83 developments from 46 estates)
had been completed. Among them, excess lead was found
in water samples taken from 11 [public rental housing]
developments, while samples taken from the remaining
developments were found to stay below the World Health
Organization's ... Provisional Guideline Value ([that
istosay] 10 micrograms per litre) for lead in drinking
water. A total of 4,740 water samples were taken from
the [public rental housing] estates completed in and
after 2005 for testing, among which 91 were found to
contain excess lead, representing 2 per cent of the
total number of samples. Among these 91 water samples
containing excess lead, 63 ([that is to say] 69 per
cent) had a lead content of between 10 and 20 micrograms
per litre, 10 [of the samples, that is to say] (11 per
cent) had a lead content of between 21 and 30 micrograms
per litre, and 18 [of the samples, that is] (20 per
cent) had a lead content exceeding 30 micrograms per
litre (the highest being 153 micrograms per litre)."

"Given the lower risks [associlated] with
pre—-2005 [public rental housing] developments, the
water pipes 1n which were 1in general connected
mechanically and not by soldering, [the Housing
Authority] is now carrying out water sampling tests
for these estates by applying an objective and
representative screening method, with a view to
determining the drinking water quality of these
estates within a shorter timeframe. [The Housing
Authority] aims to complete these tests for pre-2005
[public rental housing] estates by the end of this year.
As at today, 66 out of 143 [public rental housing]
estates completed before 2005 have been tested, and
all 1,482 water samples taken were found to stay below
[World Health Organization's] Provisional Guideline

Value."
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"T now address the specific matters raised by
the [Commission of Inquiry]."

Request number 1 is, "Explain and identify the
prevailing statutory and non-statutory requirements
and WHO and other relevant standards in drinking water".

That's request number 1.

"The [Housing Authority] is not exempt from the
application of the Waterworks Ordinance ... and the
regulations and requirements of the Water Authority ...
under the [Waterworks Ordinance]. I understand that
the Water Authority ([that is to say the] Director of
Water Supplies) is the authority for the enforcement
of such laws and regulations. After the Incident, I
learnt that there had been no statutory requirements
relevant to lead in drinking water, and that water
sampling tests required by the Water Authority for
newly completed inside service covered eight
parameters which did not include lead. These eight
parameters are: pH, colour, turbidity, conductivity,
free residual chlorine, E.coli, total coliforms and
heterotrophic plate count. On 13 July 2015, WSD
issued Circular Letter No. 1/2015 to, among other
things, promulgate additional test parameters of water
samples covering four heavy metals of lead, chromium,
cadmium and nickel on top of the eight test parameters.
As for WHO, I learnt after the Incident that WHO's
Provisional Guideline Value is 10 micrograms per litre
for lead in drinking water. Ms Ada Fung will provide

more details in her response to this Request.”

"Request number 2, "Explain the Measures and
quality control system in place prior to the incident
of excess lead in drinking water by the [Housing
Authority] in order to comply with the reguirements
and standards and to ensure the safety and quality of

drinking water."

"It is the [Housing Authority's] policy to
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comply with all prevailing statutory requirements, and
where appropriate, to strive beyond such requirements.
The [Housing Authority] is not part of the government
and 1s subject to many statutory reqguirements
applicable to developers including the [Waterworks
Ordinance] requirements mentioned above. While it is
exempt from the Buildings Ordinance ... which governs
the planning, design and construction of buildings and
associated works, the [Housing Authority] submits
building proposals for the vetting and approval of the
Independent Checking Unit which, independent of the
[Housing Authority], mirrors the functions of the
Building Authority under the [Buildings Ordinance]."

"All specifications necessary for compliance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements are
included in [the Housing Authority's] contracts with
the contractors who are contractually bound to perform
accordingly. Staff of the [Housing Authority] sample
checks contractors' works, targeting their sampling
on the basis of risks. As discussed in the paper
submitted to the meeting of the Legislative Council
Panel on Housing on 22 July 2015" -- that is exhibit
3 —— "the [Housing Authority] monitored main
contractors' works regularly to ensure that fresh
water plumbing installations were executed 1in
accordance with the contractual requirements, by
inspecting the alignment of water pipes, position and
quantity of brackets and whether they were firmly fixed
adequacy of pipe sleeves and spacing, the connection
of pipes, whether the materials used complied with
contractual requirements, et cetera. However, the
[Housing Authority's] staff did not inspect the joints
between pipes or check for presence of 1lead 1in
soldering materials. The reason cited then was that
the construction industry had all along believed that
the widely accepted and used soldering materials
should have complied with relevant requirements. Ms

Fung will provide details relevant to this Request."
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Request number 3 is to "Explain and identify the
specific contractual terms and provisions pertaining
to (a) the construction of the affected estates to
ensure drinking water will be lead-free and safe and
(b) prohibiting the wuse of pipes, fittings and
soldering and other plumbing materials from which lead
may leach into drinking water."

"The [Housing Authority's] contracts with the
contractors are drawn up to comply fully with the
statutory requirements under the [Waterworks
Ordinance] and the regulatory requirements stipulated
by the [Water Authority]. The contracts therefore
include specifications to the effect that soldering
materials should be of lead-free category, and that
other parts of the fresh water supply system should
comply with the prescribed standards wunder the
Waterworks Regulations .. which stipulates
compliance with the British Standard. Despite the
above, however, as pointed out by the Review Committee
in its interim report, the [Housing Authority's]
system put 1in place before the Incident had some
inadequacies. 1In short, the past system did not focus
on the presence of lead in the fresh water supply system
or in the water, and did not target soldering materials
as a high-risk item. As far as the contract with the
main contractors is concerned, the [Housing
Authority's] system did not specifically require the
main contractor to put in place a management plan to
control, inspect or supervise the use of soldering
materials, including gquarantine upon delivery of
materials. Besides, not until 13 July 2015 when [the
Water Services Department] issued Circular Letter No.
1/2015 to, among other things, promulgate additional
test parameters of water samples covering four heavy
metals of lead, chromium, cadmium and nickel, there
had been no stipulations on lead content in water
under the [Water Authority or the Waterworks Ordinance]
regime, and the [Housing Authority's] contracts
similarly had not included such specifications in the
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past. With hindsight, had we been aware of the
associated risk before, [the Housing Authority] would
have put in place suitable control and monitoring
measures to prevent the use of non-compliant soldering
materials in the fresh water supply system. Ms Fung

will provide more details in response to this Request."”

Request 4 is, "Explain the choice and decision
of joining the pipes by soldering instead of using
mechanical compression joints, and why the former
method of joining the fresh water pipes was extensively
used in the affected estates. If it is a matter of

cost, please state the difference in costs."

"This request concerns historical and technical
details on which I am less qualified than Ms Fung to

provide. She will provide details in her statement."

"Request 5 —-- 'Who in [the Housing Authority]
was responsible for the procurement, inspection,
construction and installation and approval of plumbing
materials and the steps taken in (a) discharging such
responsibilities and (b) ensuring the safety of

drinking water.'

This Request involves details of how
professional staff are organised. I should leave it

to Ms Ada Fung to provide such details."

"T would like to make the point that the [Housing
Authority] has put in place a system for quality
control and monitoring in relation to public housing
construction, including installation of fresh water
supply, and each of the [Housing Authority] staff
involved in public housing construction is assigned
specific duties contributing to the functioning of
this system. The system has evolved over the years
to reflect the 1latest statutory and regulatory
requirements, prevalent industry practice and

knowledge as well as the accumulated experience of the
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[Housing Authority]. As pointed out by the Review
Committee, there had been a lack of awareness in the
construction industry and the [Housing Department] of
the risk of presence of lead in solder and its
implications on the drinking water quality and in turn,
the associated health risks. Such a lack of awareness
contributed to the inadequacies of the [Housing
Authority's] system (also referred to in paragraphs
14, 24 and 29) before the Incident as pointed out by

the Review Committee."

"Request 6 —-—- 'Explain how plumbing materials
containing lead came to be used in the affected estates
and also why the use of the same had been allowed and

overlooked.'

This is one of the crucial gquestions to which
we have been seeking an answer since the first incident.
With this in mind, and noting that the government has
set up the Task Force comprising relevant experts, I,
as Chairman of the Housing Authority, proposed to the
[Housing Authority] to set up a Review Committee to
comprehensively review the present arrangements for
quality control and monitoring in relation to the
installation of fresh water supply system, in order
to detect any inadequacies, systemic defects and
oversights. The Task Force published its Preliminary
Findings and the Review Committee published its
interimreport in late September and early October 2015
respectively. I have accepted the Review Committee's
interim report. Findings in the interim report are
relevant to the Request. By the signed statement of
the Review Committee's chairman, the interim report
will be adduced as evidence for the [Commission of

Inquiry]."

"T note 1in particular that in the Review
Committee's opinion, the past mechanism for ensuring
the quality of drinking water supplied to [public
rental housing] estates before the Incident had some
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inadequacies. In general, there had been a lack of
awareness in the construction industry, including the
main contractors, the plumbing subcontractors, the
licensed plumbers, as well as the [Housing Department],
of the risk of presence of lead in solder and its
implications on the drinking water quality and in turn,
the associated health risks. I also agree with the
Review Committee's view that the past quality control
mechanism for the [Housing Authority's] projects that
was in place before the discovery of excess lead was
consistent with the industry's practice, the law
([that is to say the Waterworks Ordinance and the
Waterworks Regulations]) and other [Water Authority's]
requirements. In the past, there had not been any
focus on the presence of lead (or other heavy metals)
in the fresh water supply system or in the water, and
soldering materials had not been targeted as a
high-risk item. In terms of the building contract
with the main contractor, the past system had not
specifically required the main contractor to put in
place a management plan to control, inspect or
supervise the use of soldering materials, including
quarantine upon delivery of materials; in terms of
in-process supervision, testing and commissioning,
the past system had not checked for presence of lead
in soldering Jjoints; and 1in terms of checks on
completion of projects, the past system followed the
then [Water Authority's] requirements on tests of
water samples for eight parameters, and had not

included tests for lead."”

"Request 7 —— 'Explain what, after lead has been
discovered in drinking water, steps taken by the
[Housing Authority] (a) to address health concerns of
the residents of the affected estates and (b) to ensure

the safety of drinking water in the affected estates.'

The two crucial tasks referred to in this Request
require the collaboration between the [Housing

Authority] and the government and the concerted
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efforts of the relevant government departments. The
government's expert health advice is that persons
affected by excess lead in drinking water should stop
drinking such water as one of the immediate measures.
Given this advice, when excess lead was found in water
samples from an estate, [the Housing Authority]
immediately provided bottled water to the residents.
So far over six million bottles have been distributed
to the residents of the 11 affected
estates/developments. At the same time, the [Housing
Authority] and the WSD worked to first arrange for the
provision of water tanks or water wagons, and then
extend the pipes to the ground levels of each block.
The [Housing Authority] then asked the contractors
concerned to extend connection pipes from rooftop
water tanks to each floor of the block. The [Housing
Authority] continued to explore better ways to provide
safe drinking water to residents, and with the
assistance of the Government Laboratory ... and the
WSD, studied options of installing filters commonly
used 1n other Jjurisdictions. We accepted the
proposals from the contractors concerned to install
filters with US National Sanitation Foundation 53
certification for lead reduction for the affected
households free of charge, with the undertaking to
replace the filter cores for them free of charge for
two years. As at today, filter installation for the
households in all affected estates has been completed
except those with whom we have difficulty in making
contact. All the above measures have helped to
immediately reduce the health risks faced by the
affected residents."

"Besides, the [Department of Health] has made
appointments for households with excess lead found in
water samples, as well as for residents of the affected
[public rental housing] estates who fall into the three
more easily affected groups ([that is to say] children
aged below six (adjusted to be children aged below
eight on 3 August), pregnant women and lactating women)
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to receive blood lead testing. The [Department of
Health] and the Hospital Authority have followed up
jointly on the health condition of those who have
borderline raised blood lead level. 1In particular,
[the Department of Health] has arranged preliminary
developmental assessment for those children aged under
12 and will provide appropriate follow-up services
depending on the assessment results."”

"To ensure the safety of drinking water in the
affected estates in the 1long run, the [Housing
Authority] has required the contractors concerned to
work out proposals to replace the parts of the water
plumbing system which have contributed to excess lead
in drinking water. Separately, [the Housing
Authority] has put in place a systematic programme to
check for the lead content in drinking water in all
[public rental housing] estates. As mentioned in
paragraph 18 above, I announced on 24 July 2015 that
water sampling tests would be conducted for all [public
rental housing] estates in a systematic way. The
[Housing Authority] has now completed systematic water
sampling tests for all estates completed in and after
2005 with which a higher risk of excess lead in drinking
water i1is associated because water pipes therein are
mainly copper pipes Jjoined by soldering which,
according to the Task Force, is the cause of excess
lead indrinking water when lead is found in the solder.
[Housing Authority] is now carrying out such tests by
applying an objective and representative screening
method, for the 143 estates which were completed before
2005."

"Request 8 ——- 'Describe the test results of
plumbing materials taken by the [Housing Authority]
for testing and identify the locations of the samples
taken.'

Immediately after the first incident, the
[Housing Department] took various steps to try to learn
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about the problem, including testing some components
from the plumbing systems such as pipes, joints and
mixers. Details of the test results will be given in
Ms Fung's statement. Thereafter, given the
Government's decision to set up the Task Force which
would conduct different tests and analysis for
components taken from the water supply chains [of] some
[public rental housing] estates where excess lead in
drinking water had been found, the [Housing Authority]
has since not focused on examination of components,
but instead focused on testing water samples taken from
[the public rental housing] estates. As mentioned in
paragraphs 18 and 19 above, the [Housing Authority]
has put in place a programme for carrying out such tests
for all [publicrental housing] estates systematically.
The Director of Housing chairs a group comprising
representatives fromthe [Housing Department, the WSD,
the [Government Laboratories] and the [Department of
Health], to draw up the sampling/screening method,
procedures and protocol for the water sampling tests,
and review the test results every week in general.
Under the protocol adopted by this group, if water
samples exceeding the WHO's Provisional Guideline
Value for lead in drinking water are detected, the
Government Laboratory will wuse a device (X-ray
fluorescence ... analyser) to obtain preliminary
reading of lead on the surface of the solder of the
relevant Jjoint. This 1is to provide corroborating
evidence for the lead reading from water sampling tests
and establish grounds for taking follow-up action with
the contractor concerned 1in accordance with the
contractual terms. I understand that in all cases,
lead was found in such joints where excess lead was

found in water samples."

"Request 9 —— 'Describe the Measures and Quality
Control System put in place and/or any other
recommendations by the [Housing Authority] in order
to comply with the Requirements and Standards and to

ensure the safety and quality of drinking water
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supply.'

It is the [Housing Authority's] policy to comply
with all statutory requirements, and where appropriate
to strive beyond such requirements and put in place
additional ones. Hence, the [Housing Authority] has
included all these requirements in its contracts with
contractors and expected the latter to deliver and
comply with these requirements. The [Housing
Authority's] own staff sample checks contractors'
works, targeting their sampling on the basis of risks.
As mentioned above, the past quality control mechanism
for the [Housing Authority] projects that was in place
before the discovery of excess lead was consistent with
the industry's practice, the law ([that is to say the
Waterworks Ordinance and the Waterworks Regulations])
and other WSD's requirements, but had not focused on
the presence of lead (or other heavy metals) in the
fresh water supply system or in the water, and had not

targeted soldering materials as a high-risk item."

"There has been development immediately after
the first incident. The [Housing Department] started
to consider imposing two additional requirements on
public housing projects under construction. During
amedia sessionon 10 July 2015, the Director of Housing
said, for public housing projects under construction,
the [Housing Department] was considering reqguiring
main contractors to include testing for lead in the
water quality tests. The [Housing Department] was
also considering conducting tests for the soldering
materials to ensure compliance with the lead-free
requirement. Thereafter, on 13 July 2015, the WSD
issued Circular Letter No. 1/2015 by which testing for
four heavy metals including lead is now made mandatory
for all newly completed inside service. In the paper
submitted to the Legislative Council Panel on Housing
for the meeting on 22 July 2015, we mentioned that we
would implement short and medium term measures (such

as incorporating 1in the [Housing Authority's]
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contracts the latest water sampling test requirements
specified in WSD's Circular Letter No. 1/2015 and
strengthening inspection on soldering materials), and
explore other long-term measures (such as working
with stakeholders to raise the safety standard of
other fittings and materials in fresh water plumbing
systems and strengthen the training of licensed
plumbers and workers in the industry). A list of
enhancement measures for [public rental housing]

projects has also been implemented by way of the

[Housing Authority's] Development and Construction
Management Board Instruction issued to all in-house
Project Teams and Contract Managers on 18 August 2015,
now produced and shown to me marked "Exhibit 4'. These
measures 1include Project Teams conducting random
checking upon delivery of materials on site and
contractors' completion of checking, for lead content
in solder joints; and the contractors collecting water
samples for testing 1n accordance with the new

requirements specified in WSD's Circular Letter No.

1/2015. The Review Committee in its interim report
has put forward a list of recommendations. I expect
to see more 1in its final report. The [Housing

Authority] will strive to put in place all these
recommendations as a matter of urgency to prevent

occurrence of similar incidents in the future."

"Request 10: 'Given the incident of lead in
drinking water, please comment on the necessity,
appropriateness, feasibility and effectiveness of
replacing the entire fresh water plumbing system (or
part (s) thereof) in the affected estates to ensure the
safety and quality of drinking water. On this subject,
your comment is also sought on the timetable and costs

involved."

"[the Housing Authority] attaches great
importance to the Incident and the health of the
tenants 1in the affected estates. We have been
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explaining to the public that the Housing Authority
has requested the main contractors concerned to submit
proposals on rectification of the state of
non—-compliance in the 11 affected estates, which cover
a comprehensive investigation into the problem in each
estate, as well as identification and replacement of
the pipe joints that are found to be non-compliant.
The preliminary findings of the Task Force supports
the [Housing Authority's] stance in firming up the
proposals with the main contractors. However, the
rectification works are no easy task. They are
labour—-intensive and involve complex technical issues
and procedures. The main contractors have all
submitted their proposals for rectification works
which have all been forwarded to the [Water Authority].
Before commencement of works, the [Housing Authority]
needs to submit necessary documents for the [Water

Authority's] approval."

"T am mindful that the rectification works are
not pure engineering issues. We have to examine
contractors' proposals carefully to ensure that the
works involved are able to, on the one hand, rectify
the problems and, on the other hand, cater for the needs
and circumstances of individual households while not
causing undue disruption and inconvenience to them.
Careful planning and preparation including liaison
with residents or their representatives are necessary.
We have also explained openly that the rectification
works will start in the common area first as the
non—-compliant joints in the common area can be replaced
in a relatively quick manner, benefiting the quality
of water supplied to all residents soonest while
causing less disruption to individual households. 1In
the phase involving individual households, the
[Housing Authority] needs to proceed with extremely
careful planning which will in turn take time. The
time needed to complete the rectification works varies
among estates, depending on the size of the estates.
In any event, this is not going to be a quick process

- 31 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BRKENEERELZE S 2015411 H 2 H

given the reasons above. As to costs, the [Housing
Authority] expects that the contractors concernedwill
bear all the costs incurred from these rectification

works."
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& ! What I meant to say was that apart from Kai Ching Estate
the same licensed plumber was involved in four other
estates. So when we discovered that of those four
estates, one, which is Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2, was
also ——we also found samples from that Kwai Luen Estate
Phase 2 containing excessive or excess lead in water,

so we thought that we must not be complacent.
FJf% ¢ Thank you.
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houses because of the use of lead solder on drinking
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FiT DA R ST (50T 2 MR A 5L R 2 R A Tl 5 AR IR I R -

E .

=

WE — {3 BEHA T 5 1% 25 B 2 5 (5 BI (% K 22 354 Wg — my o o R R 4 3 1y 1
WL HE » AYIEN response o BRE(ESEE] > R0 WL R 2K 2R
ST R A I B EE T R (15 I £ B e WG 18] ok A T S AR IR TR - RRAE{E R
s o A EE B — ] ok — U B R A B — (B (= > ol — {18 R B A 3
JEe TH H MH L5 B A R RE U el R F T o (K o g e
regulatory limit - {EBfJFRENS lERIAMRSE - EB(RAH 25 B -

o

=

D WE 25 0 (ESIR FURE B B /K HE R H IR (5 205 60 - X REIEEE -

DIE o

- 62 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BRKENEERELZE S 2015411 H 2 H

[ -

[ -

ITHF s 2 L TR A 7 ] o ey 45 i — — U [ 260 <2 i vy > S S BTSSR LS e
8 - BB FEAK > [REFE —EPMHE > “further analysis
showed lead solder used on the drinking water pipe” >

RuERE 7

LR -

PR E R BFRGAE WS SRR VE - B A5 [ EE(E
M - R E B (R Bk & %A (@ Multiagency Incident
Management Team - &l V5 4F % 05 [F] EE A BE 25 52 T Bl (% i BH 0EE 3t
7% o YU o ORISR - - —BEH > HikE] 195 H - 195 H > /£ © “Policy
and Regulation”, “Policy and Regulation”. “This
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drinking water after the water leave your local
treatment plant or your well.”Hl&iEH&E R &4
17 o] {1 B[] % 0 7K JEE e el o e {18 BT 20 (8 /K e > B 2 A - I R g
A UE ? A H B RE LRI E > /R E] > “that is, the source
of lead in your home water, is more likely” » HZFIIE »

By JEA L 2

L 0E > RE -
R Y K B L SIS L (4 -

E .

=

L B0% solder o Fh{AUHMIELE -

DR o

! “The most common cause is corrosion.”fH HEEE KRR

Ry e o A 0 7K [ S o o e (] S ) s AR R PR A (R 2R A - T
L RE L e — WY i -

DIE o

D IR{¥E{4“does my home’s age make a difference” o fR{¥ >

BIGRHEEEIEE ? T8 ? Bt -—-4=r 5 BEHE > Bt
KEMEH > SLAEME - — MR HIE 5 MR - — Rk (ko o

“either very old or very new” o

DR o

DR R ERETE o IR (E S E A R
DB o

D RELEHT A 0 BLA RO o

D IE S IR o

P ARBEEWANE > EEEER LT --1900 FHEERFE - &KL

Bt EF RN ER -

PR

- 70 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BRKENEERELZE S 2015411 H 2 H

[

BB B S E IS o B R S E I (A R

D IE 5 IE o

IR EMEE > “however, the use of lead solder with

copper pipes is widespread” - WE{EHzEEMZ » RWIE -

DB IR o

DR MRS > BIREE SRR FER -

DB .

SR B 5 W — I S B AR Rt 14 55 B B /K0T A B R e — I B -

D BE s IR o
BIZ S EE )5 2L > TR — % > SBIE)S Y > e R IEER UH 5L (5 A A SRR -
D IE S IE S 0B o

IR EEVET % Eﬂf/%?jﬁk“ﬁ lead free BfH > EoROMA lead free

LR U S

D IE S IE o

FRAEFLIREERE 401 H - 401 H--B#F 400 JEIL > “what is the
government doing about the problem of lead in household
water?”Mfg 93 IRz - 35 BRI BUR m A B ek g 35 B BUR ¥ & 7K & 8
i e W R I o R R B EL B U (R R e W9 {8 P ER > B — 0 Bk
H{EWf“safe Drinking Water Act” - (B/KLZEZEZE) itk
RI5F & 7Kl 15 & $58E Level ~ 5L set FI0U{H 15 PPB IF K - -5 (%
FE % 58 75 — e (8 2Rt 2R I 5 (B (R 8E 2 2RI RS — SR A TEEC &
KZEEE) -

DB IR o

D B AR E S B BUMFEEER IR - sl AR 86 £F 6 H o ULAIIRAEATHL

BTV E (B/KZRZE) @ SUEARZERGH A SR E R HE A =
$LEE solder o

E .

=

- 71 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BRKENEERELZE S 2015411 H 2 H

[ -

[

gy o (B RELADREL AR ILVE AL T EIE ? (ROKEI(RA BAE - 5t ] PR
s N ERIE 7 Pemie % 2= o [N R H 8 SRe (8 i RE R B > O Bl fA et
BBk —E n] LB A FAE - A& ERIE 7

D BE s IR o
D FRBEERE 0 “lead requirement” o R R F|E 9
D ELE] o

! “Where into effect in June 1986”7 > 1986 4 6 HUg—ymEf

A EREHEET [FH ZOK R a A2 -

E .

=

M RLE RS T INBUST St — B R R > HE2 %] 1988 4 » HEH AR
o U A TR SR B B AT o (BT EE - BUAREEHE ZNA W R EAK
B EE 11 e i B 7K 2 470 25 1D FH 0 2 S TR0 - WE — U9 2% L IR 2R (R R RE 4
BSE 2 FEPR — IR A K E SRS Sy & NI A AR T 5wl -
REEMFAE—A » “also” » ffH » “in enforce the band, some
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PR o FEEZEBMRANEE—mac sk - EEEREEFZ WM —17
standard B} form» record form 6210 5§ » EI{&EEAEFRR L 6210
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BRWHE A A 17 R EE b e B SR B e o T ? AR R
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A5 Okay ° MREETIEF > EFELLE - h e
ESVERS SR
aYed T R AR W HEGRFEES -

T S - RS o IR R R .
T -

ERE R o U A (S O R ERET R 5 2% o H MR AT A & i
RIS

/T’T‘.ﬁ
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L ¢ BRI o T 5¢ A] DAE SR o w] DUEERE S o R LM

a7 [ B K A5 28 20 (i (EE AT (] R S AR SR R 2 {4 > RTEF R AL -
MAed s BT AR 0 ..
ESVC
e L BEGREETE -
LI - FREE > g&K - (H5T 7
Poe R WEEME team H—H - ...
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shie (AEEPHA]) B =Ar?

- 90 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BRKENEERELZE S 2015411 H 2 H

ERE  BROREAD - Mriig o ...
GO W R

FRE L. [EIHEEARCR AT R AR KA - Okay o FRUH IR+ B o (DU FR
FTFUE(E FTE8 court interpretation #PAEERE RA4FIE > FM - MHIEK
w5 A AL 48 o & o BHORTERT » A EEF AR LR R 2

fiisf-4 : Mr Chairman, just on that note, the good news in
relation to my intended questions is that there will
be very few questions. The slightly less good news
is that I intend to ask them in English. So I flag
this up now, Jjust 1n case there need to be any

particular practical arrangements made.

I did have one thought, Mr Chairman, as I was
listening to the simultaneous translation, which is
firstly that, if I may say so, it seems to be of very
high quality. I see Mr McCoy SC nodding. I also note
that there are two simultaneous interpreters who are
sitting in the room. So I wonder if one possible
arrangement for tomorrow, for the short time in which
I am asking questions, is that one of the simultaneous
interpreters be placed within this hearing room, to
perform the more traditional consecutive

interpretation role.

ERE B RET o A B IR L (A g B 5% > (R B (E 7 Tk ik
g BLEE - (E WS & tH EE 5 (LB R AR S A

Bl ENR o AR A DU —E R E ? S R Z AT IED [E 5R S A 5
W ABRIE A B I (B EERE A A S SR B R -

LI o BB DM o TE AR o O (& —— DR B RO 5 (57T — {8
interpretation service » i LAUE 4T SSEH3% oh IS 3R 3428 -
RO OB B F 2

fii4f-4 © Mr Chairman, just one other perhaps halfway house.
I of course am happy to proceed on the basis that I
can ask the questions in English and if Prof Cheung

wishes, certainly for my part I would be perfectly
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happy for him to give his answers in Chinese.
TG ARSI IRER —8R 90 R B 5 g B /R e & R R -
fFs4 @ Of course I simply flag that up for consideration.
EE T e
fRse4 ¢ I am grateful.

FJE - BN o 4 R AKE - E

20154 11 H 2 H

T 405 35 B ARITE
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Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

Monday, 2 November 2015
Testing *
(10.08 am)
CHAIRMAN: Good morning. (Chinese spoken).
MR LEE: (Chinese spoken).
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
MR LEE: (Chinese spoken).
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
MR LEE: (Chinese spoken).
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken)
MR LEE: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: (Chinese spoken) transcripts. (Chinese spoken).

The parties (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).

MR SHIEH: (Chinese spoken) break (Chinese spoken) involved

party (Chinese spoken)

Housing Authority ... (Chinese spoken)
Ms Ada Fung ... (Chinese spoken) ... okay
(Chinese spoken) ... okay ... (Chinese spoken)
okay ... (Chinese spoken) ... CEO
(Chinese spoken) ... managing director
(Chinese spoken) ... okay ... (Chinese spoken)

Advisory Committee On Water Resources and

Quality of Water Supplies ... (Chinese spoken)
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Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

sub-subcontractors ... (Chinese spoken)
Salmon letter. Salmon letter ... (Chinese spoken)
piping ... (Chinese spoken) ... Salmon letter

(Chinese spoken)

contractor ... (Chinese spoken) ... prosperity
building materials Co Ltd ... (Chinese spoken) *(ask) Wo

Hing manufacturing company * (ask)

(Chinese spoken) ... Housing Authority
(Chinese spoken) ... Prof Bellinger
(Chinese spoken) ... Ms Ada Fung
(Chinese spoken) ... Prof David Bellinger
(Chinese spoken) ... Prof Bellinger
(Chinese spoken) ... Prof Bellinger
(Chinese spoken) ... Housing Authority
(Chinese spoken) ... part 1 ... (Chinese spoken)
part 2 ... (Chinese spoken).
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken) ... opening speech

(Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: (Chinese spoken).
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: (Chinese spoken).
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: (Chinese spoken)

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
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WITNESS: (Chinese spoken).

MR ANTHONY CHEUNG BING LEUNG (affirmed or sworn in Cantonese
~ (ask)

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken)

Examination-in-chief by MR YIN

MR YIN: (Chinese spoken).

So, Mr Cheung, you have the witness statement in
front of you that you have signed before; correct?
A. Yes, correct
Q. So in this witness statement there are totally 21 pages;

is that right?

A. (Chinese spoken).
Q. (Chinese spoken)?
A. (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).

INTERPRETER: "So on the first page of your witness
statement, you as the chairman of the Housing Authority,
you made this witness statement; is it correct?
Correct."

MR YIN: So, on the page 20, is it your signature-?

A. Correct.
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Q. So, according to instruction, for the witness statement
we have to read it once, so can I read it for you?

A. Okay, please go ahead.

Q. (In English) chairman, I will start:

"I ~... 2012. Among other responsibilities, the
Secretary for Transport and House assumes the office of
chairman of the Housing Authority. I make this
statement pursuant to a direction addressed to the
chairman of the Housing Authority from the Commission of
inguire into excess lead found in drinking water via
a letter of Lo & Lo solicitors dated 12 October 2015,
supplemented by a further direction set out in another
letter of Lo & Lo solicitors dated 13 October 2015 "...

Lo & Lo letters."

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).

(The statement was interpreted to the witness)

MR YIN: "As an introductory point, I wish to emphasise *
review carefully such recommendations as may be made by
the [Commission] concerning the quality of drinking
water in Hong Kong and will seek to implement such

recommendations which may relate specifically to the gb

Housing Authority]."
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(The statement was interpreted to the witness)

"Concerning the ten Requests raised in the Lo & Lo's
letters, I have discussed them carefully with relevant
senior staff in the [housing department]. We understand
that to facilitate the [Commission], we should locate
~... some extent, given the subject matters of the
Requests and the historical and technical details
involved, we believe the best person to respond to the
Requests with such details is the Head of the
Development and Construction Division of the [housing
department] ... As explained at the preliminary
hearing, Ms Ada Fung, the dep I did director who heads
~... much greater detail. 1In coping with the many tasks
following the first incident of excess lead found in
drinking water in public rental housing ... estates,

I have worked closely with the Director of Housing and
his senior staff, as well as all divisions of the
[housing department] as a team *... ready to give

evidence as the [Commission of Inquiry] deems fit."

(The statement was interpreted to the witness)
MR YIN: "I think it might be useful to the, Commission of
Inquiry if I provide some background of the organisation

and people involved before I respond to the Requests.
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The "~... under the Housing Ordinance ... The, Secretary
for Transport and Housing] assumes the office of
chairman of the Housing Authority, while the Director of
Housing assumes that of vice-chairman. In addition to
the chairman and vice-chairman, the Housing Authority
currently has two official members (that is the
Permanent Secretary for Financial services and the
treasury (treasury) and Director of Lands) and 27
non-official members. Six standing committees have been
formed under section 7 of the Housing Ordinance to
formulate, administer and oversee policies in specific
areas. They are:

(a) Building Committee.

(b) commercial properties committee.

(c) Finance Committee.

(d) Strategic Planning Committee.

(e) subs diced housing committee.

(f) Tender Committee.

Subcommittees and ad hoc committees may be formed on
a need basis.

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: "The Housing Department is the executive arm of the

Housing Authority, staffed mostly by civil servants. It
is headed by the Director of Housing, Mr Stanley Ying,

who also assumes the office of Permanent Secretary for
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Transport and Housing (housing). Under the office of
the Director of Housing, there are four divisions,
namely the Development and Construction Division, Estate
Management Division, statisticgy division and corporate

services division."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken). *(CORRECTION: strategy
division).

MR YIN: "The Development and Construction Division is
responsible for the production of new public housing
units, which include all aspects of project management
and production work covering the initial site search and
feasibility studies, community engagement, planning,
design, construction management, commissioning for
occupation, up to the expiry of maintenance period and
the settlement of final accounts. The Development and
Construction Division is also responsible for
establishing operational policies on procurement, design
construction, quality performance assessment, dispute
resolution, research and development, safety and
environmental management for public housing development

in Hong Kong."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "The [Development and Construction Division] is
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headed by a Deputy Director who is supported by four
assistant directors and 25 chief professionals,
including chief architects, chief building services
engineers, chief civil engineers, chief geotechnical
engineers, chief planning officers, chief quantity
surveyors, and chief structural engineers. The
establishment of [the Development and Construction

Division] including non-directorate staff is 2,497."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: "From the bovr, we think Ms Fung is the best person
to provide the historical and technical details required

by the Requests " (CORRECTION: above) ."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: "A final part of the background which I think may
be relevant is how I have participated in the efforts to

manage the incident of excess lead found in drinking

water in certain" -- what is PRH ... "[public rental
housing estates]" —-- we will throughout call this the
"incident" —-- "as it is through this process that I have

learned much of the information that I will be using to

respond to the Requests."
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INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "I first became aware of the problems when the
Director of Housing reported to me that on 7 July 2015
lead had been found in two joint samples taken from two
vacant units in Kai Ching Estate. I decided that we had
to enter into a 'contingency mode', and that the matter
required close collaboration between the [Housing
Authority] and the government, as well as high-level
concerted efforts of various bureau x and departments
within the government, in particular the Development
Bureau, the Food and Health Bureau, the water supplies
department ... and the Department of Health
I notified the Chief Secretary for Administration *

on 11 July, the [Chief Secretary] convened the first

after series of interdepartmental meetings in response

to the Incident. You attended this and almost all of
the subsequent interdepartmental meetings chaired by the

[Chief Secretary] or the acting [Chief Secretary].

Besides, I participated in the first joint-departmental

president conference held on 11 July, and explained that

the government attached great importance to the matter
and would take immediate follow-up actions to ease
residents' concerns and ensure their access to safe
drinking water ~... adhering to three principles in

handling the issue:
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—-— being open and transparent in information
dissemination;
Adopting a people-oriented approach; and.

—— carrying out thorough investigations."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "Since the Incident, I have been conscious of the
need to keep members of the [Housing Authority] informed
of the development. Hence, I, together with the
Director of Housing and his senior staff members, gave
a briefing to the members of the [Housing Authority] on
16 July 2015. During the same briefing, I proposed that
the [Housing Authority] should set up a Review Committee
to carry out a full 'body check' on the [Housing
Authority's] quality control and monitoring mechanism at
different stages of public housing construction. On
24 July 2015, having obtained the [Housing Authority's]
agreement ~... public housing estates" —-- hereafter
called the Review Committee”" —-- "led by a member of the
Housing Authority, Mr Cheung Tat Tong, who will give his
witness statement to the Commission of Inquiry
separately. The Housing Authority was further updated
on the development of the Incident via a Housing
Authority paper issued on 12 August 2015, and on the

results of a systemic water sampling tests for PRH
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estates completed in and after 2005 via another Housing

Authority paper issued on 29 September 2015."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "The Housing Authority has attached and continues
to attach great importance to the necessary
investigations and follow-up angsts. The details of

these actions are covered in the paragraphs below."

~(CORRECTION: follow-up actions).

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "The Review Committee submitted its interim report
to me on 6 October 2015. The interim report war I said
openly on 6 October that I agreed with the Review
Committee's review that there had been a lack of
awareness in the construction industry, as well as the
Housing Department, of the risk of presence of lead in
solder and its implications on the quality of drinking
water and therefore the associated health risks. I also
said that I agreed with the Review Committee's view that
the Housing Authority's past mechanism for ensuring the
quality of drinking water supplied to public rental
housing estates had some inadequacies. In short, while

the Housing Authority's past quality control mechanism

- 11 -
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was consistent with the industry's practice, the law and
other Water Services Department's requirements, it did
not focus on the presence of lead (or other heavy
metals) in the fresh water supply system or in the
water, and did not target soldering materials as a high
risk item. With hindsight, had we been aware of the
associated risk before, the Housing Authority would have
put in place suitable control and monitoring measures to
prevent the use of non-cle pliant soldering materials in

the fresh water supply system."

~(CORRECTION: non-compliant).

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "The Review Committee, as part of its study, has in
its interim report made some recommendations on measures
to reduce the risk of occurrence of the presence of lead
in solder on joints and of excess lead in drinking water
in respect of new public rental housing projects under
construction. These measures include requiring the main
contractor to test water samples in a newly completed
inside service for heavy metal content (including lead)
in accordance with the water service department's latest
requirements, requiring the main contractor to submit
and comply with a management plan covering stringent

plumbing subcontractor supervision and on-site
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monitoring, and using quick test methods by both the
Housing Department and the contractors to check for the
presence of lead in soldering joints during construction
stage. Throughout its study, the Review Committee has
been communicating with relevant and interested
stakeholders, including professional organisations as
well as industry representatives and frontline workers,
to understand their views on the problem and possible
solutions. It is possible that it may revise the above
measures and consider recommending additional ones. The
Review Committee aims to submit a full report to me by

the end of 2015."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken). Drou

MR YIN: "In fact, our quest for improvement in the Housing
Authority's established quality control mechanism for
public housing construction has started as soon as
the problems in Kai Ching Estate was first discovered.
During a media session on July 10, drrt of housing said,
for public housing projects under construction, the
Housing Department was considering requiring main
contractors to include testing for lead in the water
quality tests. The Housing Department was also
considering conducting tests for the soldering materials

to ensure that they would comply with the lead-free

- 13 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

requirement. On 13 July 2015, the Circular Letter No.
1/2015 issued by the Water Services Department, now
produced and shown to me marked 'Exhibit 1', which,
among other things, promulgates additional test
parameters for water samples taken from a newly
completed inside service, covering four heavy metals of
lead, chromium, cadmium and Mickel on top of the eight
test parameters under the Circular Letter No. 2/2006
issued by the Water Services Department, now produced
and shown to me marked 'Exhibit 2'. Accordingly, we
imposed such additional requirements on public rental
housing projects under construction. In our paper
submitted to the Legislative Council Panel on Housing
for the meeting on 22 July 2015 ... we explained our
understanding on why the Housing Authority's system had
not inspected the joints between pipes for lead content
or checked for the presence of lead in soldering
materials. The paper also outlined the short and medium
term improvement measures that the Housing Authority
would implement, and some longer term measures that the
Housing Authority would explore, in addressing the

problems identified."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

- 14 -
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MR YIN: Chairman, before I move on to the next paragraph,
I just want to point out that the text of the written
statement that was submitted, on the second line,
towards the end of the second line of paragraph 16,
there is a word "since" which is superfluous. Now,

I have omitted that when I read the evidence.

CHAIRMAN: All right " (chk) (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: Paragraph 17, I continue:

"During the debate on two motions under the
Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges)
Ordinance ... held on 14 and 16 October 2015, I said
that since the Incident, the Housing Authority had been
mindful of not underestimating the risks nor arousing
undue fears in the community. We had been adopting
a pragmatic approach in addressing the immediate needs
and concerns of affected residents, seeking remedies
from the main contractors concerned according to
contracts, and investigating into the size and cause of
the problem including a comprehensive review of the
Housing Authority's quality control and monitoring
mechanism for public rental housing construction.
I also said that the Housing Authority would bear the
necessary responsibility as the owner of the public
rental housing estates concerned, and stood ready to

co-operate with the Commission of Inquiry fully.
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I undertook to implement the recommendations to be made
by the Commission of Inquiry as well as those by the
Review Committee and the government's Task Force on
excessive lead content in drinking water ... which is
headed by the Deputy Director of Water Supplies and
comprising, among others, the chairman of Advisory
Committee on Water Resources and Quality of Water
Supplies, a renowned expert in material and corrosion of
metal as well as a chemistry professor from a local
university. I also said that, if the Commission of
Inquiry found that there were responsibility issues that
needed to be followed up, we would act solemnly

according to established mechanism."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "In order to address residents' concern over
an increasing number of public rental housing estates
with water samples found to contain excess lead,
I announced on 15 July 2015 that water samples would be
taken from all [public rental housing] estates completed
since 2015, as well as Kwail Luen Estate Phase 1 (which
was completed in 2011 smflt (, for lead testing. On
20 July 2015, I announced that the scope of water
sampling tests would be further extended to all 12

[public rental housing] estates completed in 2011 and
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2012. On 24 July 2015, I announced that the water
sampling tests would be extended to all [public rental
housing] estates in a systematic way. The target was to
complete such tests for [public rental housing]
developments completed in and after 2005 in two months'
time, and then taking into account experience and data,
consider how to do such tests for developments completed
before 2005. On 24 September 2015, we announced that
systematic water sampling tests for [public rental
housing] developments completed in and after 2005
(involving 83 developments from 46 estates) had been
completed. Among them, excess lead was found in water
samples taken from 11 [public rental housing]
developments, while samples feign the remaining
developments were found to stay below the World Health
Organization's ... provisional guideline value ([that is
to say] 10 micrograms per litre) for lead in drinking
water. A total of 4,740 water samples were taken from
the [public rental housing [estates completed in and
after 2005 for testing, among which 91 were found to
contain excess lead, representing 2 per cent of the
total number of samples. Among these 91 water samples
containing excess lead, 63 ([that is to say 69 per cent)
had a lead content of between 10 and 20 micrograms per

litre, 10 [of the samplets, it is a to say]
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(11 per cent) had a lead content "~... 20 sers had a lead
content exceeding 30 micrograms per litre (the highest

being 153 micrograms per litre)."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

(A1l answers via interpreter unless otherwise indicated) *

MR YIN: "Given the lower risks [associated] with pre-2005
'public rental housing] developments, the water pipes in
which were in general connected mechanically and not by
soldering, the Housing Authority is now carrying out
water sampling tests for these estates by applying
an objective and representative screening method, with
a view to determining the drinking water quality of
these estates within a shorter timeframe. The Housing
Authority aims to complete these tests for pre-2005
public rental housing estates by the end of this year.
As at today, 66 out of 143 public rental housing estates
completed before 2005 have been tested, and all 1,482

water samples taken were found to stay below [World

Health Organization's] provisional guideline value."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: "I now address the specific matters raised by the

[Commission of Inquiry]."
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INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken)..

MR YIN: Request number 1 is "Explain and identify the
prevailing statutory and non-statutory requirements and
WHO and other relevant standards in drinking water".
That's request number 1.

"The Housing Authority is not exempt from the
application of the Waterworks Ordinance ... and the
regulations and requirements of the Water Authority
under the [Waterworks Ordinance]. I understand that the
Water Authority (that is to say the director of water
supplies) is the authority for the enforcement of such
laws and regulations. After the Incident, I learnt that
there had been no statutory requirements relevant to
lead in drinking water, and that water sampling tests
required by the Water Authority for newly completed
inside service covered eight parameters which did not
include lead. These eight parameters are: pH, colour,
turbidity, conductivity, free residual chlorine, E.coli,
total coliforms and heterotrophic plate count. On
13 July 2015, WSD issued Circular Letter No. 1/2015 to,
among other things, promulgate additional test
parameters of water samples covering four heavy metals
of lead, chromium, cadmium and nickel on top of the

eight test parameters. As for WHO, I learnt after the
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Incident that WHO's provisional guideline value is 10
micrograms per litre for lead in drinking water. Ms Ada
Fung will provide more details in her response to this

Request."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: Request number 2:

"Explain the Measures and quality control system in
place prior to the incident of excess lead in drinking
water by the Housing Authority in order to comply with
the requirements and standards and to ensure the safety

and quality of drinking water."

"It is the Housing Authority's policy to comply with
all prevailing statutory requirements, and where
appropriate, to strive beyond such requirements. The
Housing Authority is not part of the government and is
subject to many statutory requirements applicable to
developers including the Waterworks Ordinance
requirements mentioned above. While it is exempt from
the Buildings Ordinance ... which governs the planning,
design and construction of buildings and associated
works, the Housing Authority submits building proposals
for the vetting and approval of the Independent Checking

Unit which, independent of the Housing Authority,
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mirrors the functions of the Building Authority under

the [Buildings Ordinance]."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "All specifications necessary for compliance with
the statutory and regulatory requirements are included
in the Housing Authority's contracts with the
contractors who are contractually bound to perform
accordingly. Staff of the [Housing Authority] sample
checks contractors' works, targeting their sampling on
the basis of risks. As discussed in the paper submitted
to the meeting of the Legislative Council Panel on
Housing on 22 July 2015" —-- that is exhibit 3 -- "the
[Housing Authority] monitored main contractors' works
regularly to ensure that fresh water plumbing
installations were executed in accordance with the
contractual requirements, by inspecting the alignment of
water pipes, position and quantity of brackets and
whether they were firmly fixed, adequacy of pipe sleeves
and spacing, the connection of pipes, whether the
materials used complied with contractual requirements,
et cetera. However, the heart's staff did not inspect
the joints between pipes or check for presence of lead
in soldering materials. The reason cited then was that

the construction industry had all along believed that

- 21 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

the widely accepted and used soldering materials should
have complied with relevant requirements. Ms Fung will

provide details request to this Request."”

~(CORRECTION: relevant to this request).

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: Request number 3 is to "Explain and identify the
specific contractual terms and provisions pertaining to
(a) the construction of the affected estates to ensure
drinking water will be lead-free and safe and (b)
prohibiting the use of pipes, fittings and soldering and
other plumbing materials from which lead may leach into

drinking water."

"the Housing Authority's contracts with the
contractors are drawn up to comply fully with the
statutory requirements under the Waterworks Ordinance
and the regulatory requirements stipulated by the
Water Authority. The contracts therefore include
specifications to the effect that soldering materials
should be of lead-free category, and that other parts of
the fresh water supply system should comply with the
prescribed standards under the waterworks
regulations ... which stipulates compliance with the

British Standard. Despite the above, however, as
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pointed out by the Review Committee in its interim
report, the Housing Authority's system put in place
before the Incident had some inadequacies. In short,
the past system did not focus on the presence of lead in
the fresh water supply system or in the water, and did
not target soldering materials as a high-risk item. As
far as the contract with the main contractors is
concerned, the Housing Authority's system did not
specifically require the main contractor to put in place
a management plan to control, inspect or supervise the
use of soldering materials, including quarantine upon
delivery of materials. Besides, not until 13 July 2015
when [the Water Services Department] issued Circular
Letter No. 1/2015 to, among other things, promulgate
additional test parameters of water samples covering
four heavy metals of lead, chromium, cad yim and nickel,
there had been no stipulations on lead comment to water
under the [Water Authority or the Waterworks Ordinance]
regime, and the Housing Authority's contracts similarly
had not included such specifications in the past. With
hindsight, had we been aware of the associated risk
before, the Housing Authority would have put in place
suitable control and monitoring measures to prevent the
use of non-compliant soldering materials in the fresh

water supply system. Ms Fung will provide more details
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in response to this Request."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: Request 4 is:

"Explain the choice and decision of joining the
pipes by soldering instead of using mechanical
compression joints, and why the former method of joining
the fresh water pipes was extentively used in the
affected estates. If it is a matter of cost, please

state the difference in costs.”

"This request concerns historical and technical
details on which I am less qualified than Ms Fung to

provide. She will provide details in her statement."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: Request 5:

"Who in the Housing Authority was responsible for
the procurement, inspection, construction and
installation and approval of plumbing materials and the
steps taken in (a) discharging such responsibilities and

(b) ensuring the safety of drinking water."

"This Request involves details of how professional
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staff are organised. I should leave it to Ms Ada Fung

to provide such details."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "I would like to make the point that the [Housing
Authority] has put in place a system for quality control
and monitoring in relation to public housing
construction, including installation of fresh water
supply, and each of the [Housing Authority] staff
involved in public housing construction is assigned
specific duties contributing to the functioning of this
system. The system has evolved over the years to
reflect the latest statutory and regulatory
requirements, prevalent industry practice and knowledge
as well as the accumulated experience of the [Housing
Authority]. As pointed out by the Review Committee,
there had been a lack of aware innocence the
construction industry and the [Housing Department] of
the risk of presence of lead in solder and its
implications on the drinking water quality and in turn,
the associated health risks. Such a lack of awareness
contributed to the inadequacies of the [Housing
Authority's] system (also referred to in paragraphs 14,
24 and 29) before the Incident as pointed out by the

Review Committee."
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INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: Request 6:
"Explain how plumbing materials containing lead came
to be used in the affected estates and also why the use

of the same had been allowed and overlooked."

"This is one of the crucial questions to which we
have been seeking an answer since the first incident.
With this in mind, and noting that the government has
set up the Task Force comprising relevant experts, I, as
chairman of the Housing Authority, proposed to the
Housing Authority to set up a Review Committee to
comprehensively review the present arrangements for
quality control and monitoring in relation to the
installation of fresh water supply system, in order to
detect any inadequacies, systemic defects and
oversights. The Task Force published its Preliminary
Findings and the Review Committee published its interim
report in late September and early October 2015
respectively. I have accepted the Review Committee's
interim report. Findings in the interim report are

relevant to the Request. By the signed statement of the
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Review Committee's chairman, the interim report will be

adduced as evidence for the [Commission of Inquiry].".

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "I note in particular that in the Review
Committee's opinion, the past mechanism for ensuring the
quality of drinking water supplied to [public rental
housing] estates before the Incident had some
inadequacies. 1In general, there had been a lack of
ahness in the construction industry, including the main
contractors, the plumbing subcontractors, the licensed
plumbers, as well as the Housing Department, of the risk
of presence of lead in solder and its implications on
the drinking water quality and in turn, the associated
health risks. I also agree with the Review Committee's
view that the past quality control mechanism for the
Housing Authority's projects that was in place before
the discovery of excess lead was consistent with the
industry's practice, the law ([that is to say the
Waterworks Ordinance and the waterworks regulations])
and other Water Authority's requirements. In the past,
there had not been any focus on the presence of lead (or
other heavy metals) in the fresh water supply system or
in the water, and soldering materials had not been

targeted as a high-risk item. In terms of the building
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contract with the main subcontractor, the past system

had not specifically required the main contractor to put

in place a management plan to control, inspect or
supervise the use of soldering materials, including

quarantine upon delivery of materials; in terms of

in-process supervision, testing and commissioning, the

past system had not checked for presence of lead in

soldering joints; and in terms of checks on completion
of projects would be the past system followed the then

Water Authority's requirements on tests of water samples

for eight parameters and had not included tests for

lead."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: Request 7:

"Explain what, after lead has been discovered in

drinking water, steps taken by the [Housing Authority]

(a) to address health concerns of the residents of the

affected estates and (b) to ensure the safety of

drinking water in the affected estates."

"the two crucial tasks referred to in this Request

require the collaboration between the Housing Authority

and the government and the concerted efforts of the
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relevant government departments. The government's
expert health advice is that persons affected by excess
lead in drinking water should stop drinking such water
as one of the immediate measures. Given this advice,
when excess lead was found in water samples from

an estate, the Housing Authority immediately provided
bottled water to the residents. So far over six million
bottles have been distributed to the residents of the 11
affected estates/developments. At the same time, the
Housing Authority and the WSD work to first arrange for
the provision of water tanks or water gag gones, and
then extend the pipes to the ground levels of each
block. The Housing Authority then asked the contractors
concerned to extend connection pipes from rooftop water
tanks to each floor of the block. The [Housing
Authority] continued to explore better ways to provide
self drinking water to residents, and with the
assistance of the Government Laboratory ... and the WSD,
studied options of installing filters commonly used in
other jurisdictions. We accepted the proposals from the
contractors concerned to install filters with US
National Sanitation Foundation 53 certification for lead
reduction for the affected households free of charge,
with the undertaking to replace the filter cores for

them free of charge for two years. As at today, filter
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installation for the households in all affected estates
has been completed except those with whom we have
difficulty in making contact. All the above measures
have helped to immediately reduce the health risks faced

by the affected residents."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "Besides, the Department of Health has made
appointments for households with excess lead found in
water samples, as well as for residents of the affected
public rental housing estates who fall into the three
more easily affected groups ([that is to say] children
aged below six (adjusted to be children aged below eight
on 3 August), pregnant women and lactating women) to
receive blood lead testing. The Department of Health
and the Hospital Authority have followed up jointly on
the health condition of those who have borderline raised
blood lead level. 1In particular, dd ~ has arranged
preliminary developmental assessment for those children
aged under 12 and will provide appropriate follow-up

services depending on the assessment results."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "To ensure the safety of drinking water in the
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affected estates in the long run, the [Housing
Authority] has required the contractors concerned to
work out proposals to replace the parts of the water
plumbing system which have contributed to excess lead in
drinking water. Separately, [the Housing Authority [has
put in place a systematic programme to check for the
lead comment to drinking water in all, public rental
housing] estates. As mentioned in paragraph 18 above,

I announced on 24 July 2015 that water sampling tests
would be conducted for all [public rental housing]
estates in a systematic way. The [Housing Authority]
has now completed systematic water sampling tests for
all estates completed in and after 2005 with which

a higher risk of excess lead in drinking water is
associated because water pipes therein are mainly copper
pipes joined by soldering which, according to the Task
Force, is the cause of excess lead in drinking water
when lead is found in the solder. Housing Authority is
now carrying out such tests by applying an objective and
representative screening method, for the 143 estates

which were completed before 2005."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: "Request 8 —-- 'Distribute the test results of

plumbing materials taken by the [Housing Authority] for
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testing and identify the locations of the samples
taken.'.

Immediately after the first incident, the Housing
Department took various steps to try to blernt problem
~”, including testing some components from the plumbing
systems such as pipes, joints and mixers. Details of
the test results will be given in Ms Fung's statement.
Thereafter, given the government's decision to set up
the Task Force which would conduct different tests and
analysis for components taken from the water supply
contains of some [public rental housing] estates where
excess lead in drinking water had been found, the
[Housing Authority] has since not focused on examination
of components, but instead of focused on testing water
samples taken from [the public rental housing] estates.
As mentioned in paragraphs 18 and 19 above, the [Housing
Authority] has put in place a programme for carrying out
such tests for all [renls] estates systematically. The
Director of Housing chairs a group comprising
representatives from the HD, the WSD, the government
laboratories " (chk) and the Department of Health, to
draw up the sampling/screening method, procedures and
protocol for the water sampling tests, and review the
test results every week in general. Under the protocol

adopted by this group, if water samples exceeding the
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WHO's provisional guideline value for lead in drinking
water are detected, the Government Laboratory will use

a gis (X-ray flure sense ... analyser) to obtain
preliminary reading of lead on the surface of the solder
of the relevant joint. This is to provide cob rating
evidence for the lead reading from water sampling tests
and establish grounds for taking follow-up action with
the contractor concerned in accordance with the
contractual terms. I understand that in all cases, lead
was found in such joints where excess lead was found in

water samples *(CORRECTION: fluorescence) ."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "Request 9 dosh 'Describe the measures and quality
control system put in place and/or any other
recommendations by the [Housing Authority] in order to
comply with the requirements and standards and to ensure
the safety and quality of drinking water supply.'.

It is the Housing Authority's policy to comply with
all statutory requirements, and where appropriate to
strive beyond such requirements and put in place
additional ones. Hence, the [Housing Authority [has
included all these requirements in its contracts with
contractors and expected the latter to deliver and

comply with these requirements. The [Housing
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Authority's] own staff sample checks contractors' works,
targeting their sampling on the basis of risks. As
mentioned above, the past quality control mechanism for
the [Housing Authority] projects that was in place
before the discovery of exez lead was consistent with
the industry's practice, the law ([that is to say the
Waterworks Ordinance and the waterworks regulations])
and other WSD's requirements, but had not focused on the
presence of lead (or other heavy metals) in the fresh
water supply system or in the water, and had not

targeted soldering materials as a high-risk item."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "There has been development immediately after the
first incident. The [Housing Department] started to
consider imposing two additional requirements on public
housing projects under construction. During a media
session on 10 July 2015, the Director of Housing said,
for public housing projects under construction, the
[Housing Department] was considering requiring main
contractors to include testing for lead in the water
quality tests. The [Housing Department] was also
considering conducting tests for the soldering materials
to ensure compliance with the lead-free requirement.

Thereafter, on 13 July 2015, the WSD issued Circular
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Letter No. 1/2015 by which testing for four heavy metals
including lead is now made mandatory for all newly
completed inside service. In the paper submitted to the
Legislative Council Panel on Housing for the meeting on
22 July 2015, we mentioned that we would implement short
and medium term measures (such as incorporating in the
[Housing Authority's scrb scrb contracts the latest
water sampling test requirements specified in wd's
Circular Letter No. 1/2015 and strengthening inspection
on soldering materials), and explore other long-term
measures (such as working with stakeholders to raise the
safety standard of other fittings and materials in fresh
water plumbing systems and strengthen the training of
licensed plumbers and workers in the industry). A list
of enhancement measures for public rental housing
projects has also been implemented by way of the Housing
Authority's Development and Construction Management
Board Instruction issued to all in-house project teams
and contract managers on 18 August 2015, now produced
and shown to me marked 'Exhibit 4'. These measures
include project teams conducting random checking upon
delivery of materials on site and contractors'
completion of checking, for lead content in solder
joints; and the contractors collecting water samples for

testing in accordance with the new requirements
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specified in WSD's Circular Letter No. 1/2015. The ruek
in its interim report has put forward a list of
recommendations. I expect to see more in its final
report. The Housing Authority will strive to put in
place all these recommendations as a matter of urgency
to prevent occurrence of similar incidents in the

future."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "Request 10: 'Given the incident of lead in
drinking water, please comment on the necessity,
appropriateness, feasibility and effectiveness of
replacing the entire fresh water plumbing system (or
parts thereof) in the affected estates to ensure the
safety and quality of drinking water. On this subject,
your comment is also sought on the timetable and costs
involved. '~ (doc).

[the Housing Authority] attaches great importance to
the Incident and the health of the tenants in the
affected estates. We have been explaining to the public
that the Housing Authority has requested the main
contractors doarnd submit proposals on rectification of
the state of non-compliance in the 11 affected estates,
which cover a comprehensive investigation into the

problem in each estate, as well as identification and
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replagues of the pipe joints that are found to be
non-compliant. The Preliminary Findings of the Task
Force supports the Housing Authority's stance in firming
up the proposals with the main contractors. However,
the rectification works are no easy task. They are
labour-intensive and involve complex technical issues
and procedures. The main contractors have all submitted
their proposals for rectification works which have all
been forwarded to the Water Authority. Before
commencement of works, the Housing Authority needs to
submit necessary documents for the Water Authority's

approval."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: "I am mindful that the rectification works are not
pure engineering issues. We have to examine
contractors' proposals carefully to ensure that the
works involved are able to, on the one hand, rectify the
problems and, on the other hand, cater for the needs and
circumstances of individual households while not causing
undue disruption and inconvenience to them. Careful
planning and preparation including liaison with
residents or their representatives are necessary. We

have also explained openly that the rectification works
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will start in the common area first as the non-compliant
joints in the common area can be replaced in

a relatively quick manner, benefiting the quality of
water supplied to all residents soonest while causing
less disruption to individual households. In the phase
involving individual households, the [Housing Authority]
needs to proceed with extremely careful planning which
will in turn take time. The time needed to complete the
rectification works wvaries among estates, depending on
the size of the estates. In any event, this is not
going to be a quick process given the reasons above. As
to costs, the [Housing Authority] expects that the
contractors concerned will bear all the costs incurred

from these rectification works."

INTERPRETER: (Chinese spoken).

MR YIN: (Via interpreter) So, Prof Cheung, do you agree
that the witness statement I have just read to you is
what you want to state to us?

A. Yes, I agree. But I wish to supplement something.

Q. So, Prof Cheung, before you make some supplementation,
are you willing that the witness statement I have read
to you as the evidence to this case?

A. Yes, I am willing to do so.

Q. So, Prof Cheung, now you can put what you want to
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supplement.

A. Chairman, about the witness statement that has just read
to me, I wish to make some supplementation.

So, first of all, when the chairman of the Housing
Authority —-- the director of the Housing Authority
reported to me about the lead was found in the water, in
the two unoccupied unit in Kai Ching Estate, at that
time I had immediately declared that we had to enter the
contingency mode.

MR SHIEH: *... the reference to the director of the Housing

Authority should simply be Director of Housing.
MS LAM: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: "Emergency mode".

Unknown speaker: (Chinese spoken).

A. And I have also reported to the Chief Secretary "

So, on 9 July, I also called an interdepartmental
meeting, so in the meeting there were Dr Ko Wing Man of
the Food and Health Bureau and Mr Ma Siu Chan, he is the
Deputy Director -—- Mr Ma Siu Chan *~, the undersecretary
of the Development Bureau, and also the director of the
Housing Authority, Housing Department, and also the
director of the Water Services Department, and also the
health department, they have also joined this meeting.

So we had the initial discussion about how to take

the measures for this issue of lead found in the
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drinking water. So I mean on that day we did *... there
is no lead found in drinking water, no such issue
discovered yet. We were just discussing what we are
going to do once such problem has been found.

So, on 10 July, from the Kai Ching Estate, the
samples we had checked, among the 50 samples four were
found that lead was found in the drinking water.

So the Housing Department has called the media
meeting and also we called a residents meeting and we
also took immediate action which is that we delivered
the bottled water to the residents and we gave out the
health information.

So I would like to say that the government has not
underestimated the situation and we did seriously
consider the situation.

So I and also my senior staff also asked: so why
would lead be found in the drinking water? So was it
just individual building or is it involved in the
different housing estates? If it is the latter one,
then it involves structural and systematic issues.

So, when it was found that in Kai Ching skate,

a licensed plumber, and also the other four housing
estates ~(CORRECTION: Kai Ching Estate), including
Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2, that there was excess lead

found in the drinking water, so I think that it is quite
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an urgent matter.

INTERPRETER: Sorry, I will interpret again:

A. So when I found that the same licensed plumber of
Kai Ching Estate and also Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2,
which is among the four housing estates that there was
excess lead found in drinking water, we think that it is
an urgent matter.

A. (In English) What I meant to say was that apart from
Kai Ching Estate, the same licensed plumber was involved
in four other estates. So when we discovered that of
those four estates, one, which is Kwai Luen Estate
Phase 2, was also —— we also found samples from that
Kwai Luen Estate Phase 2 containing excessive or excess
lead in water, so we thought that we must not be
complacent.

CHATIRMAN: Thank you " (chk)

A. (Via interpreter) So after that we extended this group
of checking of the water step by step.

So first is for the estate set up in 2013 or after.
So after that will be the estates established in 2011
and 2012. Then will be the remaining estates set up in
2005 or after that. And then after that will be the
estates set up before 2005. That means all the housing
estates will be within the scope of water checking, so

we want to do this to ease the worries of the residents.
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So what we want to do is to —-- mainly, we don't want
to underestimate the risk, but we also do not want to
create fears.

~ We want to do it in a pragmatic way and to do it
openly and transparently and people-oriented.

The third point is, in order to find out the reason
of this matter, but the government, means the
Development Bureau, has set up the Task Force comprising
the Deputy Director of the Water Services Department and
also the experts of the Water Services. To affirm the
source of the excess lead found in drinking water as
scientific evidence ” (punc).

But as the chairman of the Housing Authority,

I think it is necessary that the Housing Authority has
to do a comprehensive body check about the quality
control and the supervision of the drinking water, the
work supervision of the drinking water works. So I have
announced that in the press conference dated 14 July.

~, and it was supported by the committee members in

A

the housing briefing meeting dated 16 July.

So the perfect housing drinking water quality
control Review Committee was set up " (CORRECTION: public
housing) on 24 July ”~... proper procedures.

As I have mentioned in my witness statement, the

Housing Authority would try to comply —-- the Housing
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Authority has to comply to all the statutory and
regulatory requirements, but we always try for, under
the appropriate situation, we try to go beyond the
related requirements.

But why we did not check about the lead in the
drinking water: so just according to the interim report
given to me dated on 6 October by the Review Committee,
this is because in the past, so the industry, the
construction industry and also the subcontractors of the
waterworks, and also the Housing Department, they have
inadequacies about the risk of the soldering materials

that had lead inside, and also the influence upon the

drinking water quality, and also ”~... the related health
risk.
They think that it is okay to —-- it is fine to comply

with the related laws and the requirement of the
Water Authority.

And before the Water Authority issued Circular
Letter No. 1/2015, dated 15 July, there was no request,
no requirement, for the lead testing for the newly
installed inside the water supply system samples, or
other heavy metals inside, in the drinking water.

So, after that, I would think —-- I would say that if
we had been aware of the related risk, I believe the

Housing Authority and the Housing Department will have
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the appropriate quality control and also the
surveillance measures, and we also will have tested the
amount of lead in the newly installed water supply
system, and would have tested whether lead was found in
the water pipes, in the soldering materials, to ensure
the safety of the drinking water.
So, Chairman, this is the end of my supplementation.
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
MR YIN: (Chinese spoken).:
"In particular, the Department of Health has

arranged preliminary developmental assessment."

(Chinese spoken) ... developmental.
(Counsel conferring)
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken).
(12.41 pm)
(The luncheon adjournment)
Testing *.
(2.33 pm)
CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken) *.
I would like to say t to the gounl the translation this
morning. I think you noticed that this morning the
translation service wasn't really as good as expected.

This time, it is an executive-led Commission, so in
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terms of a translator, we didn't use the usual court
interpretation; we didn't have anyone sent over here
from the court. So it didn't work out as well as
expected, and I had a word with Mr Alan Lai. It seems
that Mr McCoy of all the lawyers is mono lingual.

I think he might speak Cantonese, maybe he speaks very
good Cantonese. It seems that it is only Mr McCoy in my
experience who has some problem with the language, but

I don't really want to impede the progress of the
hearing.

So to a certain extent we do have simultaneous
interpretation, and our simultaneous interpreters are
government interpretation interpreters. We have a chief
simultaneous interpreter here would I would imagine that
the standard really up to scratch.

So against this background, I think we can continue
with our proceeding in Cantonese.

If on certain important subject there are any
translation problems or any situation where the standard
leaves something to be desired, please let me know, so
that I will try and resolve this translation problem.
Otherwise, we will stick with Cantonese for this
hearing, until such time as we are able to identify
a consecutive interpreter who is really good enough.

Any comments? Any statement you would like to make?
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MR YIN: (Chinese spoken) Chairman, I heard what you say,
and to a certain extent I feel reassured, because my
worry 1is that the witness statement is supposed to be
based on the language that it is delivered in. My
biggest concern is that during the course of
translation, their statement might be compromised. This
is my worry.

I am not sure whether the official record will be
based on the language in which the witness gave the
statement in. For the counsel here, we may be
bilingual, we may be able to cope with both languages.
Still, during the course of the proceedings, we are not
able to vet the accuracy or veracity of the
interpretation.

We would normally —— we may sometimes cross-—examine
in Cantonese, but in the final submission the counsel
can verify the accuracy and we would stick with the
original language in the proceeding.

Obviously, if we want to make it convenient for
Mr McCoy, we can rely on simultaneous interpretation.
But my concern is that when it comes to the final
submission, I am wondering whether we can go by the
original language that the witnesses use, and we may be
confined by the interpretation or interpretation

version.
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CHAIRMAN: I don't think we would be confined or limited by
the interpretation. Cantonese trial or trial in
Cantonese has been going on for some time, although it
hasn't quite reached as far as the High Court but courts
of different levels have been using Cantonese in the
trials.

For the average citizen, they speak Cantonese. When
you make the statement, you can quote from the witnesses
in Cantonese. But when it comes to legal fine points,
if you want to quote certain case laws and precedents,
they are all in English, and you can choose to switch
over to English. I don't think there are any problems.
I can't see what your problems are.

MR YIN: Chairman -- what are we sticking by?

CHAIRMAN: We are stick by Cantonese. As I said at the very
beginning, the default language is Cantonese, but
sometimes we don't have to stick to Cantonese.

MR YIN: ...

CHAIRMAN: Mr Ambrose Ho said to me last time that my junior
would prefer English, and I said it doesn't really
matter. The issue is we don't have any consecutive
interpreter now, and here, in this room, it is only
Mr McCoy that needs the translation that we have this
morning. But I think we can make do with the

simultaneous interpretation now.
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You may say that it may not be 100 per cent, and
I would accept that this might happen. Now, if this
does happen, and if this would have certain significant
impact on the evidence, and if it is causing
controversy, then you can let me know and I will take
a decision then. But under the normal circumstances, in
the absence of any controversy, this would not be
an issue altogether.

MR YIN: Chairman, I would like to clarify: for the record
of the witness statement, will we stick with the
original language, don't we?

CHAIRMAN: In Cantonese. This morning, I felt a bit
surprising that you were leading the evidence of your
witness, you read out the English. It should be fine.
But in fact you could have asked the witness to read out
the statement in Cantonese.

MR YIN: Is that right?

CHAIRMAN: He can cope with Cantonese and that statement was
written by him. In theory, it wasn't written by the
lawyers themselves; he should have been able to cope
with the statement in Cantonese.

MR YIN: Chairman, my understanding is that one would
receive the instruction from the Commission
~(CORRECTION: when we received), the written statement

of the witness can be in English.

- 48 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited

Day 01



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

CHAIRMAN: Well, it doesn't really matter whether it is in
Cantonese or English. Counsel, hang on, do we have to
get bogged down in this particular point? If this is
not an issue, I would like to get on with the
proceedings. I would like to hear from Mr Anthony
Cheung's statement.

Mr Lee?

MR LEE: Chairman, I think we have to resolve this issue.

I can see that your counsel will put the questions in
English. It is only Mr Yin.

CHAIRMAN: Well, he used a bit of both, Chinese and English.

MR LEE: I agree with your view, Mr Chairman, but the thing
is if you want the witness to read out the statement in
English, it would be difficult.

CHAIRMAN: We will, he can write the statement in English,
but it would be difficult to read it in Chinese. Well,
the statement that was written in English -- of course,
if he is using Cantonese, it would not be as
grammatically well structured as in English, and it
would be more colloquial, but it's fine. We can use
colloquial Cantonese.

MR LEE: Chairman, there are certain words that we don't
normally use in Cantonese.

CHAIRMAN: True. I we can express 1in some other ways.

MR LEE: Chairman, can I propose that if you have the
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statement in English, you have to translate it in
Chinese, that would be easier, otherwise it would be

difficult.

CHAIRMAN: I can certainly tell them to do so, but some

MR

statements can be very long.

LEE: That's why even if someone is bilingual, and if the
witness statement is in English and very often counsel
would have helped putting together the statement, and if
you ask the witness to read out an English statement in
Chinese, it would be very difficult. I have had that

experience.

CHAIRMAN: Well, if they will do that, that would be good,

MR

but even if they are going to read out in the hearing
here, I would have no problem, because my experience is,
when I was a coroner, basically all the expert witnesses
would write their statements in English, especially the
reports by the doctors. But when they come to the court
to give evidence, they could still use Cantonese. It's
very easy and simple. The language 1s very technical,
but when you face a group of laymen, you cannot use very
technical language to express yourself. Those who
listen to you must be able to understand you. If you
vet very technical, it will be of no use.

LEE: I agree. When a doctor sees a Chinese patient, the

doctor can explain it to a Chinese patient. I know
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Mr Anthony Cheung, if you say lead and you ask him for
the Chinese, I know he knows it, but not the other three
heavy metals.

CHAIRMAN: But I would have no problem with that.

MR LEE: You said that the transcript will be ready two days
after the hearing and that will be Chinese, that will be
in Chinese.

CHAIRMAN: Okay. Let Mr Anthony Cheung come in again.

MR SHIEH: Let me clarify once more. My understanding is we
are not talking about simultaneous interpretation,
because whatever the simultaneous interpreters say, that
will not go into the transcript. In a moment, I will be
questioning Mr Cheung in Cantonese and he will be
answering in Cantonese. You will be hearing English
through your ear phones but then the transcript will be
in Chinese. The only English that will go into the
transcript will be that what counsel would have to say
in English. So we may not use simultaneous
interpretation for that; we may have to wait for the
consecutive interpreter to do the interpretation, then
that part would go into the transcript in English.

CHAIRMAN: Or of course, if the evidence itself is in
English, say for example when we have the expert
witnesses coming, then the transcript is in English "...

CHAIRMAN: That is correct. Any more questions?
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MR SHIEH: But generally speaking, if the witnesses use
Cantonese, then the transcript will be in Chinese.

CHATIRMAN: ~...

MR LEE: Our LiveNote will be in Cantonese, but what if the
witness speaks English?

CHAIRMAN: Well, if the witness doesn't know Cantonese, he
uses only English —-

CHAIRMAN: I mean some terms, that term, that English term
will appear in a Chinese transcript.

MR LEE: ~...

MR SHIEH: Let us clarify. If the witness such as
Prof Belling doesn't know English, the transcript will
be in English *... even if I was using Cantonese,
I would have to insert the English word nickel into it,
I don't think anyone would dispute or object to that.

CHAIRMAN: Okay.

(In the presence of the witness)

Cross—examination by MR SHIEH

MR SHIEH: Should I address you as Prof Cheung or secretary
Cheung or chairman Cheung? I should call you chairman
because you are here as the Chairman of the Housing
Authority.

To cut a long story short, Mr Cheung.
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... high level issues, but when it comes to the
actual daily work ~... that will not be done by you, so
my question for you would relate to policy or
high-ranking issues. There are four words that we
always hear, whether it be the official side or whether
with your witness statement this morning, and that is
inadequate knowledge or lack of awareness.

Now let us refer to your statement, paragraph 14.

I cannot identify the page. But it is page 37424,
paragraph 14. You said that as the HA chairman ~...

6 October that I agreed with the Review Committee's view
that there have been a lack of awareness in the
construction industry, as well as the HD of the risk of
presence of lead in solder, and its implications on the
quality of drinking water, and therefore the associated
health risks. You said that there have been a lack of
awareness of these few matters.

And then there is a LegCo paper. Please look at
your bundle, page 37457. This was submitted to the
LegCo in July this year. That's page 37457,
paragraph 13. This talks about the examination of
construction materials and the procedure for doing so.
In the middle, it says:

"The Housing Department would examine many things,

the joints between pipes and whether they are firmly
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fixed, but we do not inspect the joints between pipes
including the soldering materials for lead content. The
reason is the construction industry has all along
believed that such widely accepted and broadly applied
soldering materials comply with relevant requirements."

And then number 3, that is about what you said,
paragraph 27 in your own statement. That's page 37431.
On page 37431, at the top, you repeat what the Review
Committee said:

"... there had been a lack of awareness in the
construction industry and the HD of the risk of presence
of lead in solder and its implications on the drinking
water quality and in turn, the associated health risks
nom

That is why there are inadequacies in the HA's
system before the incident. I have to remind you that
is what you said.

After reading out those paragraphs, I have this
question for you. The so-called lack of awareness, it
is not about the fact that lead is bad for health. Lead
is bad for health, that one you would not have a lack of
awareness about; is that right?

A. I believe, generally speaking, an average person would
think that lead is not something useful for our health.

Of course, in my witness statement, and also in the
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Review Committee set up by the Housing Authority, after
it sought an understanding into the quality control of
materials and also at different stages of construction
the monitoring system that applied, the Review Committee
also met people from the industry, including the
contractors, and also the plumbing subcontractors. Now,
what's the issue here? In the past -- that is my
impression —-- the judgment is that in the past, it was
not felt that having lead in water was a problem,
because the law stipulates that the soldering material
should be of the lead-free type, and it is thought that
that has always been done because in the initial process
of construction, there should be samples checked and
endorsed, and also in the circular letters sent by the
Water Authority in 2012, there are eight parameters to
be attached to in terms of quality of water.

And that doesn't include lead. So I believe that in
the system, whether it be Housing Department staff or
the industry, including the developers and contractors,
they all thought that the lead risk was not high. If it
had been high, then it would have been included in the
eight parameters for testing water quality.

Q. That's why —-- now, what is the lack of awareness about?
It is not about the risks about lead, that lead may

cause potential health hazard, so this is not about this
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fact that you have a lack of awareness about.

A. Well, frankly speaking, we have different ways to be in
contact with lead, say the preserved eggs that Chinese
people eat and also preserved oysters. That's why
sometimes, when we eat, we also take in lead from our
food.

But whether there is this alertness in society and
that we should go by a certain lead content level and
exceeding that our health may be affected, I believe
there has not been much concern about this in society.

Q. Let's go to paragraph 24 of your witness statement.
This is about the contracts between HA and contractors.
It mentions that it includes specifications to the
effect that soldering materials should be of lead-free
category. Who drafts such contracts?

A. These contract specifications are drafted by the
Development and Construction Division of the HD and also
the chief architects.

Q. So I should better put the question to Ms Ada Fung?

A. Yes, that's correct, she knows it better.

Q. The chief architect or chief building services
engineers?

A. Ms Ada Fung is the assistant director responsible for
the Development and Construction Division.

Q. So either it's Ms Fung or the architects?
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A. Ms Fung is the Deputy Director.

Q. Okay. So the contract says the soldering materials
should be of lead-free category?

A. Yes, lead-free category.

Q. Do you know why there is this specification that it
should be lead-free?

A. If it is about drinking water, we would not want health
to be affected in any way. When this was first
stipulated, if I remember correctly, it is a requirement
of the Water Authority. This is also in the HA's
contracts. I believe this does not only have to do with
the HA; I think it also applies to private construction
projects, that soldering materials should be of
lead-free category.

Q. But can I put it this way: the HD's position is that
they would sample check materials on-site but they do
not examine whether there is lead in the soldering
materials at the joints, and we looked at the LegCo
paper just now, the explanation is that there is this
assumption or belief within the industry that materials
have always been used should be lead-free?

A. This is what the HD paper says. Indeed, on 15 July the
Water Authority issues a news circular, but before that,
(first sentence part of question "), actually before the

Kai Ching Estate water sample was tested to include
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lead, indeed there is no examination of the joints of
the pipes. I believe this is not only about the HA,

I think even private construction projects did not
examine the joints for lead. My understanding is that
the Review Committee set up by the HA also met some
contractors and these contractors did not only do
projects for the HA, they also undertook some private
projects.

Q. Okay. Let's not mind about other people, but the
explanation in the LegCo paper, the fact is there is no
examination about the joints, to see whether there is
lead. It is an unarguable fact and then the reason
given was that everybody believed that the soldering
materials used should be safe, and this is based on this
belief, that is why the HA did not examine the joints
for lead.

A. Okay, you can put it that way.

Q. Why did they have such a belief? Is it the case that in
the contract it is stipulated that it should be
lead-free, therefore there shouldn't be any issue; is
that right?

A. As chairman of the HA, this was my understanding, as to
whether there is any additional information, like over
the years, in implementing the projects, the staff

didn't think that there would be such a risk. When
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Ms Fung can supplement further.

Q. From your understanding, the Housing Authority or the
Housing Department, would they engage in any exchanges
or would they find out about not just in Hong Kong but
other parts of the world, in terms of public housing
issues? Have they tried to find out whether there have
been any problems that occurred in other parts of the
world, so as in the Housing Department or Housing
Authority is there any division that is responsible for
any exchanges to make sure the staff would be moving on
with the times?

A. Yes, I think we do, like what you said, there are from
time to time seminars and meetings, and this is
a two-way street. They can find out about the latest
technology and latest practices in other parts of the
world, and at the same time they can talk about the
practices in Hong Kong.

As I said in my statement, for the Housing
Authority, we do not simply follow the requirements; we
would go beyond the requirements in order to achieve
better result.

Q. In any industry, we cannot really be too inward-looking;
we have to find out whether there have been any problems
in other parts of the world, so we can take reference;

is that right?
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A.

Q.

Yes.
So the staff members have to find out about whether
there have been any problems elsewhere in the world, and
then they can look at the risks that we face in
Hong Kong. This is what a responsible government
department should do?
I agree. If there is a risk, even if the law doesn't
provide for that, we have to face up to it. In terms of
lead, we came to be aware of this in July, and the
Housing Department and indeed other departments or the
industry probably did not have any awareness. So that's
why I said there was a lack of awareness; they didn't
think that it was a high-risk issue.
If the Housing Department system ~(CORRECTION: in the
Housing Department, systematically, how can they make
sure there is proper awareness? If there is such a lack
of awareness, we have engaged a number of experts to
help us understand the situation, and one of the experts
is Prof Fawell. He told us that this lead saga did
happen elsewhere, in other parts of the world, that
there was a BBC programme —-- we have included the
document in the bundle. We may not know about the
details, it happened in the year 2000.

I would like to let members know that —-- you may not

be aware of the details but I would like to put you on
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notice that one of the lines of Inquiry is about the
lack of awareness. So is there any such awareness at
the time and what are the problems? Is it the case that
we are too parochial, we are just concerned about

Hong Kong and not elsewhere?

If I may refer you to page 134. Al/134. It was
something that happened in Scotland in the year 2000.
134; have you got that?

We have a couple of papers. One of them is the BBC
programme in the year 2000. It was an investigative
journalism kind of programme. An investigation was
conducted into a development in Scotland. They found
that the water contained lead.

A long story short, the reporter is called Jane and

A

she referred to the development as like a home, and
then towards the middle part you can see a reporter, the
word "Reporter", the reporter said that there is a risk
that it is affecting a few hundred homes in Scotland,
new homes. Water has been contaminated with lead. In
Glasgow previously, there may be some problem with the
water, but this historical problem should have come to
an end, because the Water Authority, the local council
there in the place has spent billions of pounds to

replace the plumbing system. Previously, the plumbing

system was made in lead and the lead seeped into the
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water. With the replacement, the problem should have
well and truly gone.

About you read on, in some new developments they
found a high concentration of lead in the water. Then
she talked about the development and there were five
households who moved in before Christmas 1998 and she
interviewed some of the family members. You can see
right in the middle the reporter -- Brandon, a little
kid, a two-year-old, made the household aware that
something was really wrong. The father said Brandon was
a pretty nice kid but in the middle of the night he
threw up and felt very exhausted, did not want to play
and complained of a headache and yelling and screaming
and so on, and they discovered some stomach cramps and
so on.

Turn over the page, page 3, 136, the middle part.

As you can see, Mrs Fife, ten days later she complained
to many places and she received a phone call to say that
there was lead in the water and she should not consume
any more of the water. The reporter said that they had
the statutory lead level —-- it should be 50 mg per

A

litre, much more liberal than now we are talking
about 10, but in Scotland it was 50 mg per litre.
After the test, in the sink, it turned out to be

385 mg per litre, and she was really incensed about the
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situation.

The programme went on, the BBC programme. If you
turn over the page, page 138 -- here, on this page, the
doctor didn't mention the seriousness of the problem.
If you carry on, the reporter said research over years
in America and Europe show that lead if consumed too
much would give rise to undesirable consequences; it
would affect the brain development. That happened
15 years ago in the UK.

Prof Bellinger later on will be explaining to us
about the health implications.

If you turn over the page, on top of the page, at
page 139, no one was taking it seriously, that
paragraph, people didn't take them seriously, although
they complained all over the place. She said that she
felt as if she was talking to a wall; everybody was
shirking responsibility, the developer was passing the
buck on to the environmental department and the EPD,
blaming it on the water supplies, the water supplies
blameled it on the developers, and it went round and
round in circles, nobody admitted any blame, and some
said that the water came in okay, and the developer said
the water came in contaminated. So the Water Supplies
Department had to dig up all the pipework to is

investigate and it claimed there was no problem when the
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water came in.

Then you can see that page 139, Mr Fyfe, he told us
that they investigated —-- you can see that.

Somebody told him that it was the plumber, the
plumbing company that got it wrong. The pipes were
contaminated because the plumbing company used lead
contaminated soldering material. In Hong Kong, we see
a lot of reports that some lead contaminated soldering
material was used. Now, this independent Commission
will be looking into this.

Now, let's assume for the time being that this is
the reason. In fact 15 years ago a similar thing did
happen elsewhere in other parts of the world. The
reporter went on to say that the soldering material was
melted to cement the piping. The reporter went on to
say that since 1989, lead contaminated soldering
material has been banned to connect the pipes, because
with this lead contaminated soldering materials being
used, it would be far more dangerous.

The reporter, as you can see, said that the law is
very clear. The soldering materials cannot contain
lead, it should be lead-free category. But the problem
is, in the market, they can still buy a lot of lead
contaminated soldering materials; they are still

available in the market. And the plumbers, they have
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this kind of materials. Financially, if one goes
against the law and uses lead contaminated soldering
materials, there can be financial temptation for them to
do so.

It is because lead contaminated soldering materials
are cheaper, and it will take less time to use such
materials. Later on, I can show you an internal report
done by a Hong Kong company. Then Dr ~... said that in
our research, actually the use of non-leaded solders
would increase the cost by 20 per cent, in other words
non-lead the solders were nor expensive. But Dr "...
said it is also not more expensive, it is quite
negligible compared to the cost of the house. But then
the reporter said it might be quite nenlable to the
house buyer -- of course, if you paid for the house, it
would cost much, much more —-- but it may not be to the
plumber. The plumber might have a contract for, say,

a few dozen houses then the cost may not be negligible
anymore. That was the argument at that time.

Please turn over the page. The rotter continued
with the investigation. At kalder gardens, the plumbing
work was done by the same firm ~ (CORRECTION: the
reporter continued). So that family might not be the
only victim.

Then let's go down a bit. The reporter actually

- 65 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited

Day 01



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

interviewed another victim. It was thought that the
lead was from the water source, but it was not the case,
and then it was then they told me that it was because
the plumbers used leaded and non-leaded solder. They
should have used a non-leaded solder to lay the pipes
for the drinking water system, but then the plumber
might have just used any solder and it was found that it
was not lead-free, and so there was contamination, and

Then a lot more was said, and then Mrs McGee was
also interviewed.

Then please go to page 142. The developer, in
a statement to us, the developer actually said that all
the solders used were leaded. On the top of 142, the
Brian homes, that's the developer, said that it has
remind all contractors that leaded solder is illegal and
it should not be used, and offered to replace offending
pipework in the McGees' upstairs wash hand basin.

Now I would like you to turn a few pages. Please go
to page 144. You can see this man called Ian Ball.
This is the piping contractor ~... worthingly Ltd. They
identified the plumbing company and the company was
interviewed, and this man says:

"There are two kinds of solder, one lead-free, one
leaded, and he said "our plumbing worker used the Wong

solder and he did not know why error" -- that's it. Was
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it because it was done for the sake of convenience or
it's just that a human error because they did not bother
to buy the right kind of solder?

I won't go into the details. Of course, each
incident is unique. But this is what happened 15 years
ago in Scotland. There was this problem with a housing
development.

This is not the end of this. It is not just
television programme who was doing this kind of
investigative journalism for fun, because you might
think it was fabricated or something. But actually the
official side also did a lot of things.

Please go to page 198 of the same box file.

Page 198. On page 198, you see "Scottish new homes lead
survey". Scotland did a lead survey on new homes
completed. The responsible institution is the Scottish
institution for ~... and environmental health. Please
go to page "... 4 and you see "... please go to 2004.
You can see that the survey is commissioned by the
Scottish executive Health Department. In other words,
the official side also did a lot of things.

Page 2007, the background, that in 1987, laws were
passed to ban the use of lead solder as a jointing
compound. So it should not be used as any component.

And in the middle of the page -- go to the paragraph
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starting with "It was assumed" -- it was assumed that
lead solder ban was being observed. Until evidence in
1999 that there was an incident in Glasgow, showing that
a new house built actually included lead solder. This
was because a child got sick and the incident exploded
and it was found that there was lead solder that was
used.

Let us look at page 242. This is part 2, and
Scotland da series of surveys on lead content in water.
Of course, this happened quite a few years ago, but from
what you know, are there divisions in the HA or the HD
that would reach out to other place and to see whether
something happened? Is there such a mechanism or any
kind of set-up to try and reach out and understand what
has happened elsewhere where like what I showed you in
Scotland?

A. As I answered you a moment ago, generally speaking they
would take part in overseas seminars or seminars
organised by local expert organisations. But talking
about these Scottish reports, I don't know whether they
have seen these. In the past, I was a member of the HA,
that was before my time, when I became the Secretary for
Transport and Housing, and even after I have become the
secretary when excess lead was found in water in

Kai Ching, I did not know anything about such surveys.

- 68 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

After the Kai Ching incident, our staff were trying to
understand what happened elsewhere, and I myself looked
at what Toronto did, when there was lead content in
water, and also in Ireland, it was found that in the
1970s or before that, all the pipes contained lead, and
so it was a big risk for Ireland. So you now know it is
not unique just for any place or a particular country.

Q. And we are not talking about backward or underdeveloped
places. (Answer continuing).

Q. I would like to know, within the set one of the Housing
Authority or the HD, who should I ask if I want to ask
these questions? Which division? Which unit would be
responsible for this?

A. Well, talking about the division of labour, talking
about whrg safety, building structure and Building
Services, ~(CORRECTION: building safety), and also water
supply in buildings, these are all the responsibilities
of the Development and Construction Division of the HD.
But of course, within this division, there are many
professional disciplines —-- architects, Building
Services engineers, quality surveying professionals —-—
they are professionals and they would have to get to
know the latest best practices in their profession.

Q. So maybe, even if I ask Ms Fung, she personally might

not be able to answer this question, but she might be
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able to let us know which individual or which division
would be able to answer the question?

A. Well, it might not be just any individual division or
professionals, because there are many professionals.

Q. So, actually, this is part of their daily work, that
they might take part in seminars; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Talking about the theme thetic survey of the BBC,
it is said that " (CORRECTION: thematic) this has
happened. Please go to box file —-- because I would like
to show you something. This is the internal
investigation report of Yau Lee, which has been
submitted to HD. Of course, we will have to wait until
we come to the taking of evidence from Yau Lee. But
since you are the first witness,.

And in fact I would now like to talk common sense
with you, as the person in the highest position in this
Inquiry, I would like to ask you this question, but I in
fact would pose the same questions to other witnesses.

Please look at this Yau Lee Group internal report,
page 17877. Let us first look at 17870, or 17876.

I can tell you in simple terms that the incident
happened, and then the HA required the contractors to do
internal reports. So if you look at these box files,

you will see that the main contractors all filed reports
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with the Housing Authority. This is actually

a supplemental report from Yau Lee. I won't go into all
the details, but suffice it to say that it said we
subcontracted the work and we don't know why people used
leaded solder.

Then in the bottom right-hand corner of page 17874,
Yau Lee said —-- can you see Bl, "Procurement process"?
"Solder", it mentions Ming Hop. Ming Hop belongs to the
same group as Yau Lee. Yau Lee would get the contract
and then it contracts out the work to Ming Hop. It is
a subsidiary of the same group.

Then, further, Mr Mok of Wing Hing is given the
contract for plumbing work. Then some lists are drawn
up.

Let's look at page 18777, the right-hand corner,
"Cost difference in solder materials". You will see
that Yau Lee did internal calculations for using lead or
lead-free solder. Then page 18777, at the top, if
suitable equipment is used for the soldering work, then
lead-free soldering materials and substandard soldering
materials, in terms of time it wouldn't make any major
difference. The time required for carrying out *
soldering works are comparable to carrying out soldering
works with substandard solder. So it doesn't make any

difference in terms of time, but in terms of money,
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estimate the cost of using lead-free solder, when
compared with the cost of using substandard solder.

A, it's $76 more expensive per unit. So for the
entire development, 4,000 units, it would be $300,000 or
more. So Yau Lee and Ming Hop belonged to the same —-
were $322,000 would be just peanuts. So it is not just
because of this $300,000 that Yau Lee or Ming Hop would
be committing any irregularities. Yau Lee can elaborate
on this later on in their statement, but $300,000, to
apply the BBC logic, it would not amount to a lot of
money. But if we are dealing with plumbing facilities,
$300,000 would be quite a lot of money. That's common
sense.

To use this example, yes, indeed, just to use this
example, that that represents quite a bit of money. So
commonsensically, every bit would amount up to a lot of
money. If there is indeed a financial temptation?

A. Yes, from the money point of view, yes. But what is
interesting, when I follow up on this particular issue,
that there is no fixed pattern. Let's say there are
plumbing facilities, plumbing work, we call for tender

Q. Yes, we may not be able to establish any pattern there.
One of the lines of inquiry would be this. For Yau Lee,

there is indeed a financial difference there. This
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didn't just happen in Scotland. In the 1970s,
previously, the water pipes were made with lead. 1In
2010, there is another issue that I would like to cite
you. Bundle A1/190. That's in Wales.

This is a professional publication, 2011. You can't
see any pages here. It is a journal of environmental
health. There are so much data, I don't really want to
bore you with any detail, except to say that there is
a signal coming out of this publication, there is the
abstract in this publication, on the left-hand side,
"Lead exposure". Now, if there is lead exposure, but
then there would be a long-term acute health problems.
I'm sure this is all familiar to us; it is well
documented.

There is legislation to regulate the use of lead,
with a view to minimising the impact that lead would
have on our physical health, to minimise any
intoxication.

Historically, lead in drinking water has been
associated with lead piping used in older houses. Lead
was used 1in pipeworks in older houses and there were
problems. Recently, there is also this high lead levels
in new developments, and that's because they are using
using lead solder. This has been highlighted in

Scotland. In Wales, the people there knew what happened

- 73 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

in Scotland.

This periodical covers the response to all these
issues.

In Wales, it went on to say there are problems, and
it had regard to the Scottish problem, and one of the
households in Wales, in a new development, identified
the problem. The regulatory limit for Wales, in terms
of lead in water, 1is 25. With 25, the water coming out
of the tap contained 205, well in excess of the limit,
and they found that in the neighbouring areas there is
this very problem. They felt analysis showed the lead
solder used within the house was responsible for the
lead contamination.

And there's a multiagency team.

~, tried to identify solutions.

As you go over the page, 195, page 195, on the left,
"Policy and regulation".

"This incident highlights the property developers of
public houses continue to use lead solder in the
plumbing of drinking water despite its use for this
purpose being illegal.".

In other words, notwithstanding the legislative
prohibition against the use of leaded soldering
materials, there are still developers that are using the

lead containing solder materials. They are readily
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available in DIY shops and hardware shops. They are
also readily available, and these tables can be used for
something else and this cannot be banned, and they are
cheaper, indeed. This is less expensive, 10 pounds,
less expensive than the proper one.

They have —-—- the building regulation doesn't provide

A

for the certificate and so on, and they learned
lesson and they have to review the fact that there is
such lead containing solder material available in the
market and they also have to review the regulation and
supervision of the system.

In the middle part, on the left, it refers to the
Scottish centre for infection and environmental health
in 2003.

New housing developments are popular with families with
young children". The same with be said about
developments in Hong Kong, young families would like to
buy new houses. Because of this ”~... problem could be
avoided. 1It's excessive, the high level of lead.

~ could have been avoided, and this is unacceptable.

Request many for vulnerable people such as young
children and pregnant women" chu, these are wvulnerable
people and this source of lead is unacceptable and could
be avoided.

Went on to say that there needs to be consideration
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by authorities as to their inspection and monitoring
strategies for lead.

The local council does have an urgent need to review
the strategies and also the supervision strategies, not
just for the newly developed Housing Department but also
schools and so on.

If you move on to the bottom:

"PCWW has now included in its routine
inspection ..."

That is local department. So this ECWW has now
included in its routine inspection of newly built
properties and there is a lead check, a short test for
the detection of lead solder on the drinking water
plumbing.

I think they have these tests to ascertain the
presence of lead. They also conduct a random sample on
the new developments and that happened in 2011.

I won't go into detail about this case, in this
case, 11 housing estates, many of them were completed
before 2011; are you aware of that, some in 2014, some
earlier? Many of them were built in 2012, 2013 or 2014,
Kai Ching was 2014, if I remember correctly. So the
same problem exists. From your understanding, for the
Housing Department, the Housing Authority, would they be

just focusing on their own work in Hong Kong? Would
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A.

they be browsing these periodicals as well?
I don't know about the details myself. Maybe they have

the CPD, and they may cover these periodicals.

I notice

what you quoted, let's say in Wales it was in 2011 they
became aware of this problem, it was in 2003 in
Scotland, the ~... study, and they have all this
awareness.

Well, Wales and Scotland are so close and it took such
a long time before Wales became aware of that.

I'm not for one minute trying to defend the staff of the
Housing Department, but in fact, when something happened
somewhere, they may not be aware of that. If we
understood the problem like Kai Ching Estate, we could
deal with them immediately.

It would be easy, after the event it would always be
wise after the event.

In Chinese, if you know what you are letting
yourself in for, then you could have avoided the
problem. I don't think we can say why didn't you spot
the problem in the first place, that would be too much
of a generalisation. But the thing is, when more and
more problems arise, would there come a point when we

should do a better job, we should be able to spot the
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problem earlier, with experience in place? If you don't
learn from previous mistakes, it's not good.

A. I agree with you on that. The Water Supplies
Department, the Housing Department, they should do so,
they should be aware of what's going on elsewhere in the
world. They can learn from that experience.

Q. I will ~... later on. I would like to say this first.
You say you can't examine everything and sometimes you
have to trust people. But where do you draw the line?
You cannot just have trust. But of course you cannot
distrust too much. Now, how do you find a point of
balance? I will be asking you a series of questions on
that. In fact, the HD should sample check certain
things, but it did not sample check the solder at the
points.

Now, relating to such previous experience in other
places, I have this last question for you. I would like
to talk about the EPA of the, the US, the environmental
protection agency, page 399 of Al.

To be fair to you, I mentioned this series of
documents —-- I truly understand what you said you would
say, and even Wales did not know what happened in
Scotland. But Hong Kong calls itself an international
metropolis and previous experience has been kaum the

lawed in different ~ (CORRECTION: accumulated in
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different places, and in fact I'm just telling you that
a lot has been said. With hindsight, systematically the
HD should have learned about this much earlier. This is
what I am driving at.

Page 93, this was in 1993. The US got to know this
very early on. This is from the EPA of the US,
environmental protection agency of the United States.
You can see this, the words "EPA" at the top-left
corner.

"(In English) ."

So there are steps you can take to reduce lead in
water.

Please go down a bit on page 399:

""Why is lead a problem?"

I think this is a problem document. It's for the
user's benefit. We understand -- well, you can say the
US is very advanced -- we would also want to be
advanced, but in the US they actually have these
documents for the users.

"Why is lead a problem?"

The answer is: it is toxic. If it is inhaled or
ingested, it is harmful to human health. What are the
important sources of lead? It is in air, in soil, in
dust and in food. You are right. This is unavoidable.

You were right. But water? Water, yes, there is lead
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in water. Now, why is that so? It is from the
corrosion of plumbing. On average —-- there are so many
different sources of lead, but on average it is
estimated that lead in drinking water contributes to

20 per cent or more of total lead exposure in young
children. If a child ingests or inhails lead,

20 per cent of that would have come from water. Federal
controls on lead in gasoline —-- there is this, it is
said.

Then please go to the bottom: how can lead get into
my drinking water?

So people got to know that in the US in 1993, and
please look at the top of the page.

"Lead gets into your drinking water after the water
leaves your local treatment plant.".

Typically, lead gets into your water after it leaves
your local treatment plant or your well. Why is there
lead? You can see:

"Because the source of your lead" -- can you see
this at the top:

""The source of lead in your water is most likely
lead or solder in your pipe's home plumbing." The most
likely cause is corrosion, a reaction between the lead
pipes or solder.

So lead is released. Does my home's age make
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a difference? It says —-—

—— this is quite strange: lead contaminated drinking
water is most commonly a problem in houses that are very
old or very new. If it's very old, it is because of
copper pipes, but if it is very new it is a problem also
A common practice for copper pipes to be used. Well,
we heard about that. Of course it's a problem.

Then, in the middle:

"However, the use of lead solder with copper pipes
is widespread.".

Now, this is for the present. The use of lead
solder with copper wipes is widespread. Experts regard
this lead solder as the major cause of lead
contamination of household water in US homes. We are
talking about lead contamination. It is said that the
use of lead solder is the biggest source of
contamination and it goes to say that if it is
lead-free, it is not actually lead-free.

Please go to page 401. Let's look at the bottom of
400: what is the government doing? In 1993, the US
government already explained to people what the
government was doing about lead in water.

There are two major governmental actions. One, the
safe drinking water Act.

Under this law, the lead level in drinking water is

- 81 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

set at 15ppb. So first of all, in the US, they have
safe drinking water Act, and then the next page, the
second measure: in June 1986, president Reagan signed
amendments to the safe drinking water Act, requiring the
use of lead-free pipes solder.

Okay. Is it that with the law in place, can we
assume people will follow it? Let us look further.
Therefore, the source of this question is: is it that
people will automatically follow instructions and laws?
In June 1986, the law amendments came into force.

And then the law allows the state government a grace
period until June 1988, to implement and enforce the new
restrictions. Then it goes on to say that although the
states have banned all use of lead materials in drinking
water systems, such bans do not eliminate lead
contamination within existing plumbing.

Of course, if it is existing, you can't reduce it.
Then there is this line also:

"Enforcing the ban, some states have continued to
find ... new plumbing installations.".

Some states are said to still use or find illegal
solder.

"When the responsible plumbers of course always
observe the ban "... may be escaping detection by the

limited number of enforcement personnel.".
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In other words, there are still always people who
don't follow the law and the enforcement people, if they
lack in numbers, then there will always be people who
can exploit the loopho
loopholes.

Then:

"How can I reduce my exposure?".

The US government makes suggestions to its people
through this document. It says you should not use water
that has stayed stagnant overnight, and we have come to
the same results in our recent review.

But I have shown you this document and then I will
ask you this question. You can see that back in 1993,
the US government has already done a series of studies,
and they have identified the root of the problem, and
they know that there are still loopholes in the system,
and the US has made recommendations to its people.

Can you tell me this: why is it that the Hong Kong
government cannot do what the US government had done in
19937 This has nothing to do with reunification. This
was before 1997.

A. As a regulatory and statutory control, from what I know
about this present incident, we have always required
that the solder should be lead-free, that it should

belong to the lead-free category. So we are similar to

- 83 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water

the US —-- in other words, our law bans the use of lead
solder —-- but of course the question remains: why is it
that even with this ban we have not tested whether the
solder used was lead-free or not? As I said in my
statement, this is always an observation of the Review
Committee. All along, there is not this awareness or
doubt about the solder used, that it may be problematic.
All along, whether it be the industry or the Housing
Department, it has always been the case that we trusted
the solder was up to standard. But now we have this
incident, and we are of the view that there is a lack of
awareness of the risks involved.

Q. Well, since we are in this line of questioning —-- now,
this is a document from the EPA of the US. Is there any
interdepartmental mechanism in the Hong Kong government,
say for example if the EPD sees something like this,
that this document -- would the HD be notified?

A. Well, if you are talking specifically about this US
department and whether it is known to the EPD of the
Hong Kong government, I dare not answer that question.
But amongst departments, there should be this kind of
communication.

This time around, we have seen lead content or
excess lead in water in public housing estates, and at

present we still have not involved the EPD in our
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present effort.

Q. Will you consider involving the EPD?

A. Well, depends on the present division of work. If it is
about drinking water safety —-- let me give you this
example ——- recently at LegCo, there is a motion debate
on safe drinking water, and the secretary representing
the government was the Secretary for Food and Health.

So this tells you how labour is divided within
government.

Whether this has anything to do with the
environment, well, in a wide context, yes, this is
an environmental issue. But government departments and
Bureaus have finer division of work.

Q. I understand. Maybe in the US, since there is
an environmental source, so perhaps they have given this
task to the EP agency. That we understand. We won't go
more into this.

My last question about overseas speci experience —-- a WHO
document. It's in the same document "... page 403. It
states, right in the middle —-- this is A1/403, please —-—
this is called "Lead in drinking water". This is from
the WHO, dated 2011. 1It's a background paper on the
development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water
Quality.

Please go to page 407, "Acknowledgments". You can
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see Mr JK Fawell, the second in the list, he will be
flying in to Hong Kong to assist us.

Page 411, paragraph 2.2, "Water".

This says there is lead in the atmosphere. It was
released from the gasoline. Because of the legislation,
this problem has declined. In the US, under what
circumstances would people be exposed to lead? That is
the water. Previously, it was the fuels, now it's in
the water. That's in the US.

It went on to say that for tap water, there is
a certain level of lead, because of the nars resources.

But primarily from the household, the lead comes
from the pipes or the solder or fittings ” (CORRECTION:
natural resources). They can contain lead. This is to
make it very clear from the ghaing the lead comes from
the pipes.the amount of lead dissolved from the plumbing
system -- you can see that.

A. Yes.

Q. The amount of lead dissolved from the plumbing system
depends on several factors, like the presence of
chlorine, oxygen, pH, and so on. It says that lead
leached from the solder joints.

~ may decline as sa time goes by.

It went on to say something about the level of lead

found in water, and they have the different levels of
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A.

lead, 1.1 to 30, within 4.8. So this WHO document is
for reference. It points out that in the drinking
water, the major source of lead is actually the solder
materials. So this document highlights this in no
uncertain terms.

So from your understanding, here in Hong Kong, what

A

departments dealing with the WHO on a regular basis
and receiving information from it?
Generally it is the Health Department and the Food and
Health Bureau that is responsible for that. For the
Housing Department, when it comes to the water supply,
it is the Water Supplies Department. You have to put
a question to the director of the Water Supplies
Department, whether they have any dealings with the WHO.
I trust that the Housing Department would rely on
the Water Supplies Department as the Water Authority for
the authoritative information.
So the Housing Department, in the day-to-day work, you
may be aware of that -- now, in the day-to-day work,
would they routinely receive any information? This is
not something restricted to certain places. This is
a WHO document. This is the kind of background
information. Would this kind of background document be
routinely copied to Hong Kong departments?

I don't think I am aware of that, but whether the HD
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staff have that, I'm not sure. You have to put this to
the staff members.

Q. Well, I hope that someone would know.

A. For the Housing Authority, the rental housing is
a community in itself. If there is any subject to do
with the environment, our colleagues would look at it.

Q. It seems that there are contractual terms to say that
lead-free category materials have to be used and people
don't have the awareness that this is a problem, and
people don't have the awareness that someone would be
flouting the law or regulation to use the
lead-containing materials. Now, we are not sure whether
they do so for money purposes or for saving purposes or
what, but there was not such an awareness that someone
would use these kind of materials, because of this kind
of lack of awareness everybody would be trusting that
people would be going by the law and there was no spot
check.

Can I say this?

A. Yes, you can see say that.

Q. The problem is, for any supervision mechanism, broadly
speaking —-- I said a moment ago and I say it again that
for any supervision mechanism, if you have to recheck
and recheck all over again, it may not be good, Fa —-- it

would not be good either for you to trust everything, so
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there has to be a balance to be struck, isn't there?

A. Yes. After the incident I said openly that we have to
be doing it on a risk-based approach. We didn't sample
the materials.

Now, looking back, for some reason we didn't realise
that this carries high risk. The Housing Department
monitors the developments, and they also monitor the
plumbing system, and if they check the plumbing system
to see whether there are any irregularities and to make
sure that the materials, the solder materials, are
lead-free —- now, if they do so, that will become so
much of a burden for them. If there was a realisation
that it was of high risk, then there would have been
some random testing at certain collection points and
there may be some tests.

Q. Yes, to take water samples?

A. That wasn't really a problem of workload, but indeed
there was a lack of awareness at the time, we didn't
realise that it was of high risk. In the industry
itself, they didn't realise that there was a high risk.

Q. Broadly speaking, for anything that has to be regulated,
potentially you would like to check everything, but you
have to have a priority, you have to have a risk-based
approach, there are people who would have to think up

some prerogatives, they have to consider certain areas
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that carry high risk that have to be checked and how
frequently to check and so on —-- someone would have to
map out the protocol, would you agree? Let's say
auditing, when the auditors look at the accounts, the
nature of the company, would there be any potential for
irregularities and they would come up with some
procedures, some protocol. Do they have to make a very
vigilant or not so vigilant, I think they will have
their own judgment. I'm sure in your department, when
there would be any sampling, they would go by certain
procedures?

A. Yes, indeed. This is all risk based. 1In certain areas,
if it is considered to be of high risk, if there were
irregularities before in that particular area, then from
the risk management point of view there ought to be some
mechanism in place.

Now, for lead in drinking water, with the benefit of
hindsight, for the Housing Department and also the Water
Supplies Department, maybe they didn't realise the
seriousness of the risk.

Q. Some how they didn't realise this is of sufficient risk
for them to conduct spot check and random checking and
so on.

The Housing Department, my understanding is they do

have a list of things to check, all the detailed
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information will be coming through later on in this
proceeding, but China construction, they have produced
an internal report which shows a checklist on the part
of the Housing Department PB5.7, if I may refer you to
that. 11926.

If T refer you to 11826 first. China Construction.
That's the main contractor for Kai Ching Estate.

The Housing Authority requires the production of
an internal investigation report, that has been produced
as a supplement information, at 11826. B1.4, there's on
page 11834.

"Record of checking material delivered to site.".

There's a record of checking materials delivered to
site. According to the HA's standard form, it's
a record number number 11620, a number of materials,
including mixer and shower head set, also required to be
checked and verified by the contractor, and witnessed by
the HA's KCOW ~... ASS. But these doesn't require
soldering materials in copper pipes fittings.

There is an annex in B5. If I may refer you to B5.
That's on page 11926. Obviously, I am going by the
China Construction information. I look forward to
further information from their witness statement.

~... record form 6210, these are the guidelines for

filling out the form. There is the materials check.
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Number one is the document check. You have to check the
document, the brand, the origin, delivery notes and so
on. Not only do you have to check the documents, you
have to look at the materials. The contractor shall
carry out the checking of dimensions and surface/service
~ quality, and after of accessories, et cetera, in the
presence of contract manager's representatives. The
details of checking shall be referred to various
specification clauses.

"Major materials to be checked are as follows.".

So all these are materials that are being checked.

"Window", under certain clause, it has to be
checked, (h), ready mixed mortar and ready to be used
mortar.

What is mortar? Yes, that's the material to cement
the bricks.

Then let's go to (p), tile adhesive and tile grout,
against material to hold the tiles together Q emulsion
paint, RS synthetic paint and multilayer acrylic paint.
It seems these are minor items or rather detailed items,
even the materials to hold tiles together and even paint
have to be checked. But you can't see solder here.

Now, of course you may not be able to answer my
question but according to your understanding, when these

forms are formulated by the HA, how did it decide what
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materials should be checked? 1Is it that there were some
criteria on which you decided what to check and what not
to check? Why did you go for grout and not solder, for
example? Is it that there should be some criteria?

A. Looking at this form, there are these materials that
have to be checked. I'm sure the list has been drawn up
according to some requirements or the requirements of
the Water Authority, and maybe the HD has got some
experience from other projects that these may be risk
areas. I think there are many reasons. But
specifically, I think my staff can give you the
evidence.

Q. But who are the staff? There are so many people. I may
pose the same question to Ms Ada Fung. Ms Ada Fung may
be able to point us to the right direction.

A. Well, yes. She also has the division board, that is the
Development and Construction Division. If it thinks
that there are things that have to be done, it will
issue a notice to all the relevant project managers who
have to execute those orders. Why lead is absent or
solder is absent from this list? The HA Review
Committee also spotted this, and the HD replied in
saying that this is because, in the past, the possible
lead content in solder has not been regarded as

a high-risk item.
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Q. Well, yes, I understand. You did not regard that as
a high-risk item. But now we would want to know whether
this could have been prevented. That is why, if you had
based on certain criteria or logic to decide what to
check, say for example, if something nits with certain
risk criteria, then they are put into this list. So
~(CORRECTION: fits in) I am interested in your original
criteria and if we could have those criteria and then we
can decide actually solder should have been included,
then it is something else. But if the original criteria
did not say solder was not included, then we would know.

However, if day one your own manual or your criteria

had already said that you should check these things
which would comply with certain principles and if you
had done your job more seriously, you would have
included lead, that is what I want to find out. We
should just say, okay, it is not included. We want to
know how you arrived at this list, and that is on what
criteria you decided to include this and not that. Is
it that if I ask Ms Ada Fung, she would be able to point
us to a certain unit, a certain individual of a certain
rank who was tasked with the formulation of this list?

A. Well, I am sure there is a mechanism to include the
items we have here, and I can imagine there are these

factors that have been considered, whether first of all
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there is a statutory requirement and two, it may not be
statutory, but whether regulators have got certain
requirements, say for example the Building Authority,
the Water Authority.

Q. Well, I'm sure this is not just about contractual
requirements, because in a contract there would be so
many things and it is obvious that you do not require
everything to be checked. So what you are saying
basically is that there is a set of criteria to guide
the drafting of this form and what to include?

A. Well, I don't know the specific details of this form,
but I would say that for any form, they have been
evolved over the years, maybe a certain item would have
been included because of certain risk that has been
identified.

Q. Okay. We understand that.

Okay. Can we summarise like this. Would it be that
the so-called issue is this, that solder is regulated by
contractual clauses, as you said, it is actually not
difficult to sample check whether the solder contains
lead, but would it be that it is not something major,
that it is a kind of consumable, and it will not be
there permanently functionally? And cost-wise, it is
not particularly costly.

So comparatively, it seems it is something that does
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not attract attention, and that is why you overlooked
it. Would that be the case?

A. I think that shouldn't be the attitude.

Q. Well, yes, that shouldn't be the attitude, but I'm
saying whether this is the cause of the problem.

A. I dare not say.

Q. Why?

A. Because if we had known there was a risk, it's just like
before the Kai Ching incident, in 2012, in the circular
letter of the Water Authority, eight parameters are to
be checked, and then in the end it was said that the
Legionnaries' disease might be a risk as well, so every
new housing block has to have its water tank washed on
a frequent and regular basis, to make sure that there is
mo risk of Legionnaries' disease.

So if you look at what the HD has been doing, if the
HD had known that there was this risk, I wouldn't think
that just because this was a minor item, the HD would
not go for it. We are not really talking about major
installations in buildings, because anything that was
not attracting attention could actually pose a great
risk. (Speakers mixed up)?

A. That's correct. If we look at what we have doing since
July and the water testing we have been doing, we can

see that post-2005, pipes were soldered and the WSD

- 96 -
Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited

Day 01



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 01

Review Committee did some professional scientific
forensics, and they are also of the view that the main
lead content in water came from solder. And this is
what you have shown us by way of overseas examples, and
that is also borne out in Hong Kong.

Basically, we will take tests of water samples, we
do it systematically, we would go to a block and we go
to the different supply points. That is what the WSD
does. When it is found that a sample has excessive
content of lead, we might take 60 samples from a block.
Not all of them would be tested positive. But what we
would do is to go for the spectrometry test to see ——
that is a gquick test —-- to see whether the joints show
lead content.

Now, if we should see lead in the joints, we would
see there is such a risk. And now what we know is very
often, when we see a sample contains excess lead, it is
also true that the joints there have intlerned with lead
solder. ~(CORRECTION: soldered with lead solder.

Q. Okay. You were talking about 2005 —-- it's like
a watershed. Before 2005, you used mechanical fitting,
without using solder, but post-2005, you changed the way
pipes are joined together and you used solder material.
It is a technical change. Now, can you explain this to

me? Later on we have another witness, I understand, but
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A.

is that a contractual requirement change or it's ?

It's just what the industry decided to do. I believe
Ms Fung would be able to give you more information, but
A why do we say 2005 is a watershed? I wouldn't say
that in absolute terms. Some units built after 2005
might not have its pipes joined by solder. They belong
to the minority. Also even for pre- 2005 units, some of
them might have used solder for the pipes, and we have
surveyed all these.

This is something to do with the replacement of
copper pipes. In the past, we did not use copper pipes,
but then the pipes got rusty and then there was rustic
water, et cetera. Then we thought to improve the
situation we would gotor copper pipes, and then if you
use copper pipes you would have to solder them together.
Now, of course, with hindsight, the HD is considering
whether no solder will be used but rather to do it
mechanically again. In the past, there was not this
awareness of risks. We thought that since we had to use
lead-free category solder to join copper pipes and we
thought that this would be something very common amongst
the industry and they would do it. I said that 2005 was
a turning point.

Now we are testing water for pre-2005 estates. We

call it screening. Out of 145 housing estates, if he
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remember correctly, we have completed testing 56, and in
the screening exercise, we have got samples which all
complied with WHO guidelines, and that goes to show that
the solder might be the cause of the problem.

Well, my last question for you before we break for the
day. So in 2005 there was this change, the way to join
pipes was changed, and you went for copper pipes, so
they had to be joined together by solder. Okay, this is
a change in methodology. While you made that change,
did you think about using a new technique, I mean

a technique which has not been used by the HD, but, you
know, for the sake of risk management, did you do any
research into the new technique thought about, to see
whether there was any problem with this new technique
elsewhere? Because, as you know, we don't mind what
private developers do for private developments, but the
government is the government; you have to be accountable
to the public, you have to be accountable to so many
more people.

So have you thought about this? Have you thought
about looking into the risks before you went for a new
technique? Because in 2005, as long as someone would
sit down and Google and search soldering, the documents
that I cited would have all popped up and you would know

that in black and white there would be this temptation,
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MR

because of lower cost, and then people ran into problems
elsewhere —-- did zwoun that at that time, in 2005 2005,
from what you understand?

I don't know about this. I'm not sure. I'm not sure
whether research was done. But as I said in general
terms just now, at that time we replaced other pipes
with copper pipes in general, because we thought it was
an improvement.

From Ms Fung's statement, it says that in other parts of
the world -- well, in Hong Kong, the fresh water system
has been using this, but for the Housing Authority, this
is a new change, and you have to understand whether
there are any problems with the change.

I don't have information on this.

You don't have any awareness of such study to make sure
that this doesn't give rise to any problem?

Well, I'm not sure whether there was such study
conducted.

SHIEH: Yes, we can put this this Ms Fung. It's 4.30

now. I may not have a lot of questions.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Cheung, please come back tomorrow morning.

After Mr Paul Shieh, there are other questions who would
put questions to you.
Please, you may be excused. You may feel free to

leave. Thank you.
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Please be seated.

(In the absence of the witness)

How many lawyers will be putting questions to
Mr Cheung tomorrow?

(Raising of hands)

Two. Chan Chan chairman, we might put questions for
not for a long time.

CHAIRMAN: Mr Lee, how long is it going to take you,
roughly?

MR LEE: I have to have a word with my team. I can put
questions to somebody else, not this witness.

CHAIRMAN: All right. There are three SCs who will put
questions tomorrow. Mr Chan, Mr Lam and Mr Lee. All
right. Let's come back at 10.00 tomorrow. We haven't
used the court interpretation and the progress seems to
be pretty good *... leave off today.

Mr Chan, please.

MR CHAN: Mr Chairman, just on that note, the good news in
relation to my intended questions is that there will be
very few questions. The slight less good news is that
I intend to ask them in English. So I flag this up now,
just in case there need to be any particular practical
arrangements made.

I did have one thought, Mr Chairman, as I was
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listening to the simultaneous translation, which is that
firstly, if I may say so, it seems to be of very high
quality. I see Mr McCoy nodding. I also note that
there are two simultaneous interpreters who are sitting
in the room. So I wonder if one possible arrangement
for tomorrow, for the short time in which I am asking
questions, is that one of the simultaneous interpreters
be placed within this hearing room, to perform the
moretrational consecutive interpretation role.

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken) I will think about it, but my
understanding is that simultaneous interpreters do have
a very fine division of work. They are not doing
consecutive interpretation like this. They are not
showing their face so easily.

MR YIN: Let me make a suggestion, Chairman. I did say to
Mr Cheung that he doesn't mind having some of the
evidence taken in English.

CHAIRMAN: That would complicate the matter. We don't have
an interpretation service. It doesn't matter if it is
interpretation from Chinese into English or what.

MR CHAN: I of course am happy to proceed on the basis that
I can ask the questions in English and if Prof Cheung
wishes, certainly for my part I would be happy for him
to give his answers in Chinese.

CHAIRMAN: (Chinese spoken) well, let me think about it
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tonight.
MR CHAN: ~... I am grateful.

CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much. We adjourn the meeting.
(4.35 pm)

(The hearing adjourned until 10.00 am the following day)
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